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What an exciting pleasure to meet the delightful Dorothy Rudder! With warmth and 

expertise Cathy Koning evokes Dorothy's long stage, concert and radio career and the 

theatre greats with whom she worked. With its treasure trove of fascinating 

illustrations, Dainty Diva is an invaluable exploration of a now largely forgotten world 

of Australian and international show business. I heartily recommend it.  

~ Frank Van Straten 

 

Wallace Family Collection. 

My voice is a pure lyric soprano, full and resonant, with dramatic cadence. I am small 

and slight in figure and possess a head of long, thick, golden hair reaching below my 

waist. ~ Dorothy Rudder 

 

 

Dorothy Rudderôs Family Tree created by Robyn Morley 
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Introduction   

A fascinating ócaseô study 

  

Singer Dorothy Rudderôs suitcase. Wallace Family Collection. 

In many respects variety entertainment was also its own worst enemy. Being such a 

familiar aspect of everyday life few people considered its scripts, scores, posters, stage 

properties and other paraphernalia as having little if any cultural significance, and 

hence almost everything has since been lost.  

~ Clay Djubal
1
 

At first glance the strongly-built brown suitcase my husband Fred Wallace brought 

home gave little indication of the unique treasures within. The suitcase had once 

belonged to his great aunt, Dorothy Armitage Rudder. Fred told me I would be very 

interested in the contents. It was bit battered and made of a type of thickened hessian 

material with wrap-around wooden straps and a leather handle. A remnant of a travel 

label remained. It had been looked after for many years by Fredôs cousin, Reg Blanch, 

who later passed it on to his nephew Che Jepson.  

     The case consisted of two parts: the top section had a lift out shelf containing a faux 

crocodile box with broken jet, pearl and glass necklaces and two diamante brooches 

inside, binoculars, a No 1A Autographic Kodak Jr camera, a moth-eaten black linen hat 

trimmed with fake flowers and fruit, a toiletry set, metal trench art and a notebook from 

the First World War, a tiny shaver and lipstick, two address books, bibles, a crinkled 

cream silk embroidered shawl (placed over the shoulders when applying makeup), a 
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large hand mirror and some other bits and pieces. All the items were in a ówell-usedô 

condition. 

     The bottom layer was haphazardly filled with photographs of various sizes (some in 

an album), shipboard menus, theatre programs, postcards, greeting cards, contracts, 

newspaper clippings, letters, two autograph books, a photocopy of the family tree, a 

book on a man called Enoch William Rudder and some poems. They were not in any 

particular order ï date or otherwise.  

     Upon opening the case, my first reaction was fascination mixed with an oddly non-

defined feeling of anxiety and sadness. Someoneôs life was being laid bare and it took 

many years before the desire to research and write Dorothyôs biography actually 

translated into something approaching a fully written document. At this stage very little 

was known about Dorothy, apart from the fact that she was a soprano who had 

performed at Covent Garden and had supposedly walked out on her husband on their 

wedding night.  

     Finally, thanks to a personal encounter with Acute Myeloid Leukaemia, I had time 

to devote to the project. During the long recovery I put the materials in date order and 

fleshed out the story behind these possessions. The current generation had little or no 

knowledge of their familyôs origins, experiences during World War I, marital intrigues 

and court cases. By researching Dorothyôs story, which included a moving visit to the 

war memorial at Villers-Bretonneux in France, Iôve been given a deeper insight into a 

pioneer family who were deeply involved in the events that shaped our nation. To use a 

theatrical term, these stories provide the backdrop which helps us understand Dorothyôs 

life, a life both conventional and adventurous. What I found often challenged 

generalisations I was taught regarding Australian society in Dorothyôs lifetime.  

     There were many unexpected connections, coincidences and twists in Dorothyôs 

story, and I have allowed the paths to take me where they may ï hopefully without too 

many wrong turns. I have solved some mysteries, misunderstood others and adjusted 

the narrative as new information has been revealed. The adventure has included being a 

historical detective, a hunter-gatherer and a show business researcher ï all mixed with 

a little psychology and intuition.  

     The memorable experiences of Dorothyôs ancestors serve as a mirror from the past, 

reflecting our history back to us. That mirror also reflects Dorothyôs story where lost 

opportunities as well as successes played an integral part. It all comes together in the 

compelling and not-so-ordinary story of a fascinating and feisty Australian woman.  
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Chapter One 

Notable ancestors  

   

Frederick Julius Rudder, Alice Armitage Rudder nee Salmon, Dorothy Armitage Rudder, a barefoot baby in 

velvet and lace. Photograph by C.V. Keys. All images Wallace Family Collection. 

Dorothy Armitage Rudder was lucky to have been born at all.  

     The family history is littered with stories of dangerous encounters. Many incidents 

occurred in the summer and often inspired acts of bravery ï taking a long sea voyage by 

sailing ship or living near the sea; riding horses; using guns; and driving automobiles on 

rough roads all presented an element of risk. Two of Dorothy Rudderôs great-grandfathers, 

a grandfather and her own father were all involved in life-threatening accidents prior to her 

birth. Luckily these incidents, which usually happened to the menfolk, never resulted in the 

demise of Dorothyôs particular branch of the family tree.  

     For one great-grandfather, Frederick Biggar Chilcott, the threat of shipwreck was an 

occupational hazard; he lost three ships ï one in Hong Kong harbour, another in the Coral 

Sea and still another in the Torres Strait. His father, a naval commander during the 

Napoleonic Wars, took ships as prizes and lived to tell the tale. Another great-grandfather, 

Enoch William Rudder, together with two of his sons, Augustus and Dorothyôs grandfather 

Julius, was shipwrecked near Lord Howe Island while returning from the Californian 

goldfields. Julius, together with Dorothyôs father, later narrowly escaped drowning while 

sailing on a river. Dorothyôs grandmother Emily Yerbury was lucky not to have been killed 

by the bad tinned food provided on board ship when she immigrated to Australia with her 
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parents in 1841. Then there were the serious dangers presented by giving birth, contracting 

deadly diseases such as cholera or being bitten by a snake. 

     Dorothyôs father Frederick Julius (F.J.) Rudder was born in 1859. He married Alice 

Armitage Salmon on 1 April 1883 in Kempsey, the small town on the mid-north coast of 

NSW founded by his grandfather. The family was a small one for the time, with four births 

neatly spread out in three year intervals. Son Clarence Noel (Clarrie) arrived in 1883, 

followed by Reginald Burdett (Reg) in 1886, and Winifred Gwendoline (Winnie) in 1889.  

Dorothy, the youngest, came into the world on 8 August 1893. She was born at home in 

Kinchela, just up the road from Kempsey. I often came across inaccurate information in 

relation to dates, beginning with Dorothyôs birth certificate which was certified by Alice. It 

contains an error not obvious on first glance. Alice and F.J. were wed on 1
 
April 1883, with 

Clarence born four months after they married but the certificate gives the year as 1882. The 

errors would continue to creep in. Many sources, including Dorothyôs own death certificate, 

report her birth year as 1895, not 1893, and her age often had some years shaved from it in 

newspaper articles.  

     For Dorothy and her siblings, being members of óa notable and worthy familyô of 

óreveredô Australian pioneers was a source of pride.
1
 A great deal is known of her lineage. 

The marriage of Dorothyôs parents merged two families from very different ends of the 

social spectrum, one with a background of wealth and status, the other descended from 

óAustralian Royaltyô ï in other words, from convict stock, albeit an educated convict with a 

background in commerce. Dorothyôs middle name, Armitage, came through the convict 

line. Throw a master mariner and an innkeeper into the mix and some compelling stories 

are revealed.  

The Early Rudder Connections 

There is an element of serendipity in exploring a personôs ancestry, especially in regards to 

surnames. Fortunately a gentleman with the unusual surname of Rudder established the only 

Australian branch of their family tree and óhis ancestors are noted in historyô. 

     The Rudders can be traced back to the twelfth century when the Rutters (Rudders) migrated 

from Germany to England. They were ófirst noticed in the reign of Richard 1 (Richard the 

Lionheart) as aiding that Monarch in his wars of AD1197ô.
2
 Notable forebears included Samuel 

Rutter, the Lord Bishop of Sodor and Man (1661-1663). Rutter, the chaplain and biographer of 

the 7th Earl of Derby, was described as a grave, devout and dignified man with a gift for 

http://familypedia.wikia.com/wiki/Alice_Armitage_Salmon_(1862-1925)
http://familypedia.wikia.com/wiki/Alice_Armitage_Salmon_(1862-1925)
http://familypedia.wikia.com/wiki/Kempsey,_New_South_Wales
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poetry. These were tumultuous times, with the earl beheaded in 1651 during the English Civil 

War for his royalist sympathies. Fortunately Rutter managed to keep his. 

 

Bishop Samuel Rutter https://www.imuseum.im/  

     Another ancestor, Roger Rutter (c.1687ï1771), a shopkeeper, pig-killer and ironically óa 

renowned vegetarianô who had never eaten flesh, fish or fowlô in his lifetime, changed his 

surname to Rudder. His son Samuel Rudder (c.1726ï1801) was a respected Gloucestershire 

topographer, printer and bookseller famous for creating A New History of Gloucestershire 

(1779), a detailed parish by parish survey which took twelve years to complete. He was 

described on his memorial tablet as óa man of strictest honor and most inflexible integrityô.  

Enoch William Rudder  

Samuel Rudderôs grandson, Enoch William Rudder, was often in the news in his own 

lifetime but is not as widely recognised today. He was a man of substance, born on 6 March 

1801 into a prominent Birmingham family whose wealth came from the manufacture of 

brass taps, bed-warming pans and hand bells at the dawn of the industrial revolution. The 

motto on the family crest translates from the Latin as óFortune Through Workô. At eighteen 

years of age Enoch ran his father Williamôs foundry. Being born a gentleman enhanced and 

disadvantaged his life in equal measure. He was curious of mind, with strong principles and 

great intellect coupled with a somewhat restless disposition. A great-grandson, Major 

Lionel J.V. Rudder, wrote Magnificent Failure: the Life and Times of Enoch William 

Rudder, 1801-88 which I have drawn on to highlight his story. He wrote óin spite of his 

undoubted talents, and they were many, [Rudder] never seemed to achieve the success he 

rightly deservedô.
3
  

https://www.imuseum.im/
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gloucestershire
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                       Betts and Sons Birmingham. https://www.bettsecology.co.uk/betts-corporate-history   

                       John Betts 1774-1864. Emma Betts was his eldest daughter. Betts Family Collection. 

                        

Annabella Betts nee Rudder, one of Enoch Rudderôs sisters. Betts Family Collection. 

This image of Dorothy Rudder shows a distinct resemblance to Annabella. On the back of the photograph, 

circa 1923, is written óAnglicô. Wallace Family Collection. 

     In 1824 Enoch Rudder married Emma Betts. She came from a wealthy Birmingham 

manufacturing family who in 1760 set up a smelting and refining business known as Betts 

and Sons which recovered high values ores such as gold and silver from wastes being 

produced in the newly established Jewellery Quarter. (Incredibly, the company is still in 

existence.)  

     At a huge cost of over £300 the Rudders set sail from Liverpool on 27 August 1833 with 

their seven children and Emmaôs brother Vincent on the Princess Victoria ï advertised as a 

ófine fast sailing shipô and óThe First Vessel Direct for Hobart Town and Sydney, 

Australiaô. (Co-incidentally, ancestors on Dorothyôs maternal side were on this voyage too 

https://www.bettsecology.co.uk/betts-corporate-history
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ï in steerage.) Alfred Betts, another of Emmaôs brothers, had already settled in Tasmania 

and possibly encouraged the move to the colonies. However the initial attraction was the 

promise of wealth and success on distant shores via the prospect of a grant of free land, 

even though land was now being put up for sale by auction to fund a free immigration 

scheme. Rudder would father another eight children in NSW, one son being born just 

sixteen days after they arrived. All survived childbirth and only two would die at a 

relatively young age.  

     Rudder, the only son from a family of six, had turned his back on a well-established 

business in Birmingham by moving to New South Wales. By December 1833, while still at 

sea, his father William disinherited him entirely. Following Williamôs death in 1838, his 

mother Sarah and two daughters, Rebecca and Matilda, came to Australia on the clipper 

Wilmot, arriving in 1840. 

     After looking at land in Tasmania, in 1835 Rudder purchased 812 acres on the fertile 

southern bank of the Macleay River, the limit of authorised settlement in NSW at the time. 

He established a private town there which he called Kempsey because the surrounding 

areas reminded him of the Kempsey Valley on the Severn River in Worcestershire. In his 

1887 History of the Macleay, Rudder detailed the pristine environment of the original 

inhabitants, the Dunghutti people; an environment he and the other settlers of the district 

had a hand in forever altering.  

The Aboriginal erected his gunyah, danced the corroboree, and fought his battle; the 

wild dingo howled; the deadly snake crept silently through the brushwood and long 

grass; é The river banks were covered with magnificent gum and cedar trees 

draped in festoons of climates [clematis], presented a scene of vegetable 

magnificence, which only those possessed of taste, who had the privilege to behold 

them, before being destroyed by his brother man to make way for his fellows, could 

possibly conceive was the Macleay.  
 

Assigned convicts helped Rudder clear the land and erect a blacksmithôs shop and brick-

making facility, while educated gentleman convicts called óspecialsô looked after the stores 

and tutored his children. He built a beautiful seven-roomed home and Emma created a 

renowned garden. The walls and ceilings were lathe and plaster, with Venetian windows 

and shutters. A veranda extended across the front and two sides. At first times were hard as 

crime was rife; there was little infrastructure or rule of law so far from Sydney. Rudder 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Kempsey,_Worcestershire
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initially interested himself in red cedar cutting opportunities but also planned to sell parts of 

his estate. The first riverside blocks sold in November 1836. In later years the actual 

commercial part of town would develop on the opposite bank of the river.
4
   

      

 William Rudder, Enochôs father.         Emma Rudder nee Betts.            Enoch William Rudder. 

  

Sketch made by Enoch Rudder of his Kempsey residence in 1844. Mitchell Library State Library of NSW.           

Rudder familyôs treasured Rockingham china at Kempsey Museum. Authorôs photo. 2014  

     The 1848 Californian gold rush led to an exodus of fortune hunters from the colony, 

among them forty-eight-year-old Rudder and his sons Julius and Augustus. They teamed up 

with Simpson Davison, an experienced miner, and the man credited with the discovery of 

gold in NSW ï Edward Hammond Hargraves.  

     Rudderôs diaries detail an extraordinary twelve months. The 107 day voyage to San 

Francisco on the American whaler Harrison was challenging and very cramped, with 

sleeping berths nailed up around the bulkhead and the decks shared with seven horses, six 

pigs, one goat, twelve sheep and eight dogs, plus fodder. The Rudders made an epic journey 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Toona
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up the Sacramento and Yuba Rivers to Marysville and the nearby Foster Bay diggings with 

Hargraves and Davison. They somehow survived living in a tent in the depths of winter. 

Rudder observed the destructive San Francisco fires of May 1850 and believed they were 

deliberately lit. In a letter home to Emma Rudder commented óIn this country, life is so 

very precarious that no one dare speculate on what he may do at any future Dayô. He had 

brought bales of moleskin trousers to sell to the miners; however a man by the name of 

Levi Strauss captured the market with his pants made from canvas sails. A gold washing 

cradle designed by Rudder arrived too late and was unsuitable for Californian conditions. 

      Alluvial gold had been found in NSW as far back as 1823 but discoveries were kept 

quiet by successive governors fearing social upheaval if the inhabitants, in particular 

convicts and pastoral workers, downed their tools and rushed to the goldfields. There was 

now a change of heart as so many people had left for California, with a reward offered to 

the first person to find payable gold in the colony. According to Rudder, in California 

Hargraves, Davison and himself had discussed the possibility of finding gold in Australia. 

Each planned to return to NSW to search if unsuccessful in California, and óin the event of 

either party making a discovery all or at least those that took part in the search, were to 

participate in the benefitô.
5
 The Rudders were the first to head back home, quickly departing 

San Francisco for Sydney on the barque Rosetta Joseph. Forty-seven passengers and crew 

were aboard, together with cargo including 100 cases of anchovies, three kit houses and 

forty cases of bottled fruit, one daguerreotype apparatus (an early type of camera) and a 

case of drugs. On 1 December 1850 disaster struck; the ship was wrecked on Elizabeth 

Reef, 106 km north of Lord Howe Island and 555 km from the NSW coast.  

     In one of the great stories of survival at sea, the passengers headed for Lord Howe in 

three small boats but were confronted by two huge storms. Mountainous seas continually 

washed into the boats. After three days battling the elements the gales finally abated. They 

had navigational equipment and limited provisions and water but stocks were running very 

low by the time they reached Port Macquarie ten days later. Everyone was reported to have 

conducted themselves tolerably well, ówith the exception of two or three Port Arthur gents 

[ex-convicts from the Tasmanian prison] who were anything but agreeable companions in a 

small boatô.
6
  

     If the ship had not foundered Enoch Rudder may have been the first person to claim the 

substantial financial and public rewards which followed from being the discoverer of gold 

in Australia, and passed this wealth on to his children. However, Edward Hargraves 

claimed this honour.  
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     Assisted by local man John Lister, Hargraves found gold near Orange at a place he 

called Ophir in February 1851. Rudder wrote an important letter to the Sydney Morning 

Herald on 4 April 1851 outlining the similarity between the California goldfields and 

various districts of NSW and stated óa goldfield has been discovered extending over a tract 

of country about 300 miles in lengthô.
7
 He travelled to Ophir to purify the gold on May 6 

and was the first person to set up a tent there.  

       Hargraves, a first class self-promoter, took the credit for the discovery and claimed the 

glory and financial prizes but did not acknowledge the involvement of anyone else. Rudder 

saw himself as having laid the foundation of its discovery, to have been its promulgator 

(through his published articles and his lectures) and óthe first demonstrator of the most 

efficient method of procuring it éô  

     Rudder did not often prospect for gold himself. Instead he wrote articles on the 

geographical features of the Ophir and Turon goldfields and became involved in goldfield 

administration. He assisted the miners at Bathurst who were vigorously protesting against 

the NSW government regulations imposing licence fees on the miners regardless of the 

amount of gold they found. In Victoria, agitation against the licence system would lead to 

the Eureka Rebellion on the Ballarat goldfields, better known as the Eureka Stockade.  

 

Enoch Rudderôs 'Book No. 2 with part of No. 1, 1866, Silks only', containing specimens of silk dyed from 

various kinds of eucalyptus trees. State Library of NSW. Authorôs photo. 

     Rudder shared his extensive knowledge and his interests were wide ranging; he was 

somewhat of a órenaissance manô. For twenty-five years, at his own expense, he promoted 

the colony by sending displays of Aboriginal artefacts and indigenous timbers and minerals 

to the Great Exhibitions in Paris, London, Moscow, Philadelphia, Melbourne and Sydney, 

winning many prizes and medals for his efforts. He also experimented with indigenous tree 
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barks, insects and berries as dyes on silk. Some of these silk samples are held in Sydneyôs 

Mitchell Library. Many of his activities have great resonance today. In Birmingham, he 

produced engineering plans for removing pollutants from copper ore furnaces thus 

becoming one of Britainôs first clean-air exponents. He was one of the first ófound-and/or 

made in Australiaô campaigners, and in the debate of free trade versus protectionism he 

declared himself for the taxing of foreign goods, emphasising an abundance of resources in 

the country to meet most requirements.  

     According to Major Rudder, Rudder was Australiaôs first [white] conservationist. He 

presented a successful petition to the NSW Legislative Council in 1870 seeking the creation 

of designated reserves ófor the express purpose of preserving to posterity specimens of the 

indigenous timber and other natural productions connected with the botanyô of local 

districts around towns, to be run by trustees, thus providing the base for the present system 

of managing reserves and national parks.  

     Although Enoch Rudder seemed well organised and methodical, he left no will upon his 

death at the great age of eighty-seven in 1888 and left few assets. Kempsey Villa, which 

Emma owned and had left to her oldest son William after she died in 1883 aged eighty-

three, had tragically burnt down a year later, along with its contents and many family 

papers. (As a side note, Dorothy was distantly related to the well-known colonial 

watercolourist and property agent Henry Curzon Allport, the husband of Emmaôs sister, 

Bertha Betts (1807-1885). They arrived from London with six their children in Sydney on 

the Augustus Caesar on 1 April 1839.) 

Julius John Rudder and the Chilcott Connection  

  

Julius John Rudder, farming pioneer and Dorothyôs paternal grandfather. Wallace Family Collection. 
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     Dorothyôs paternal grandfather, Julius John Rudder (1826ï1907) was the second son of 

Enoch Rudder. Julius was educated at Sydney College (a foundation school of the present 

Sydney Grammar) where he studied arithmetic, English history, reading and geography and 

excelled in writing.  

     When Julius was nine years old, a frightening incident occurred which came to light via 

the website Unfit for Publication in which researcher Peter de Waalôs focuses on court and 

other documents relating to the history of male homosexuality in the early days of white 

settlement.
8
 The NSW Supreme Court documents state that on 10 May 1836 John Mead 

(aka Meed), a convict assigned to W.H. Green, ófeloniously did make an assaultô on Julius 

Rudder óat or near the Kings High Road leading from Sydney aforesaid to Botanyô with 

óForce and Armsô. Witnesses called in the case included Julius himself, brothers William 

and Henry and their mother Emma. John Mead denied the sodomy charge (which the 

newspapers called a ónameless offenceô); óThe Prisoner was found guilty, and sentence of 

death was passed upon him with an exhortation from the Judge. Not to hope for mercy. The 

prisoner left the bar protesting his innocence, and stating that the charge had been brought 

against him from malicious motives on the part of the witness.ô
9
 óIt was all a made up thing 

but never mind,ô he declared.
10

 Mead was hanged on 29 November 1836.   

     The impact on Julius and the Rudder family, although unknown, must have been 

profound, life changing and an event best left unmentioned. His name did not appear in the 

newspapers as the press generally chose not to report the details of attacks of this nature 

apart from gender and age. Kinchela, the town where Dorothy was born, along with the 

nearby creek, are thought to be named after the judge who passed sentence on Mead. 

     Julius married Mary Ann Chilcott (1835-1899) on 30 May 1856 at St James Church 

Sydney, which was designed in 1819 by convict architect Francis Greenaway. They went 

on to have ten children. As noted, as a young man Julius survived the hardships of life on 

the Californian goldfields and the Rosetta Joseph shipwreck on the Great Barrier Reef 

during the journey home. He again escaped drowning, together with three of his sons, 

including F.J., in January 1872. The Maitland Mercury provided the dramatic details. 

Mr. Rudder was sailing up the river; when near Frederickton the boat jibed in 

tacking, and a gust of wind coming at the time caused her to capsize, the occupants 

being thrown into the water. In the upset the sail fell over Mr. Rudder, covering him 

completely. It was with considerable difficulty that Mr. R extricated himself from 

the wreck of sails, ropes, sprit, &c. Meanwhile, two of the elder boys managed to 

http://familypedia.wikia.com/wiki/Julius_John_Rudder_(1826-1907)
http://familypedia.wikia.com/wiki/Special:FormEdit/Person/Mary_Ann_Chilcott_(1836-1899)?redlink=1
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climb upon the keel of the boat, which was bottom upwards. Mr. Rudder found the 

youngest boy still in the water. He at once made for him, and succeeded in placing 

him also on the keel of the boat, and was about making for the shore with one of the 

lads when a boat came to his assistance, and rescued him and his sons from their 

perilous position. Throughout the whole of the trying time, Mr. Rudder and indeed 

the little fellows ï the eldest of whom [F.J.] is not more than twelve or thirteen years 

of age ï displayed a great amount of courage and self-possession.
11

 

According to Major Rudder, Julius and his brother Enoch were the first farmers to use the 

land on the Macleay for purely agricultural purposes. In 1864 the farm was affected by a 

huge flood which hit the district. His óbeautiful orangeryô survived but crops, newly 

constructed buildings and most of the furniture was lost.  

 

             Likely Mary Ann Rudderôs Pass to International Exhibition Sydney 1879. David Scott Sydney.  

             Powerhouse Museum Sydney. 

     Mary Ann Rudder nee Chilcott was born in England in 1835, the eldest daughter of 

Captain Frederick Biggar (F.B.) Chilcott and his first wife Mary Ann. Her mother died 

when she was only three. What is known of the Chilcott connection? It turns out Dorothy 

had an intrepid master mariner and a naval captain in her lineage. F.B. Chilcottôs death 

notice listed him as the second son of Captain John Chilcott (c. 1770-1829) of the Royal 

Navy. Captain Chilcott served during the French Revolutionary and Napoleonic Wars 
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(1792-1815). He did not participate in iconic sea battles such as the Battle of the Nile in 

1798 or Trafalgar (1805) but was successful in capturing enemy ships as prizes, often in 

partnership with other vessels. He was promoted to the rank of Commander in 1802. In the 

later years of the war, Chilcott was the regulating officer for the impress service in Cork, 

Ireland, the town where son Frederick was born in 1810. He organised local tough and 

ruthless men into paid ópress gangsô who would forcibly recruit seamen for service, or some 

may say servitude, on Royal Navy vessels during wartime, including the pressing of as 

many as five sailors from each American ship in port. Chilcottôs methods led to official 

complaints by the United States to the first Lord of the Admiralty, Earl St Vincent in 1803; 

an interesting illustration of one of Dorothyôs ancestors contributing to the serious 

diplomatic tensions regarding impressment and ship seizures in the lead up to the War of 

1812 between the two countries. Chilcott senior died in Calais in 1829.  

 

The Phantom at Sydney Cove painted by Frederick Garling. Maritime Museum Sydney. 

     From the late 1830s to the 1850s Frederick Biggar Chilcottôs base was Sydney which 

had developed into an important trading hub. The vessels he commanded had romantic or 

evocative names ï the brigantine Camilla, the barque Arabia and the Phantom, a wooden 

two-masted brig owned by Chilcott for a time from 1845. Chilcottôs ships carried 

passengers and freighted goods such as sugar, coal, sheep and horses for the Indian Army 

between Australia, New Zealand, the East, Europe, Mauritius and California. A journey of 

the Arabia from Amoy China to Sydney in 1851 lists 179 coolies (and a Dr D.G. Jones) as 

passengers. The discovery of gold in Australia led to an influx of Chinese ócooliesô, a 
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derogatory term applied to indentured, exploited workers of Asian descent, but the fate of 

the 179 unnamed men from the Arabia is unknown. 

     In 1838 Chilcott played an important part in the early history of German settlement in 

South Australia. His óA1 fast-sailing shipô the three-masted barque Prince George left 

Hamburg with the first Lutheran settlers, who along with their leader Pastor August Kavel, 

were escaping religious persecution in Prussia. They went on to establish Klemzig, the first 

ethnic settlement in South Australia.   

     The Prince George also made a notable visit to Hong Kong Island in 1841. After the 

First Opium War the island was ceded to Great Britain and Ireland. The population of Hong 

Kong, then only a small fishing village, was around 7,500. The Union Jack was raised over 

Possession Point on 26 January 1841 but the formal hand over did not occur until the 

following year under the Treaty of Nanking. A Royal Navy surgeon, Edward Hodges Cree, 

included a fascinating meeting with Chilcott in his journal.    

Wed. 28 [April 1841] Captain Chilcott of Prince George sent his gig on which we 

went on board, then went with him in his longboat to a village on the mainland and 

walked a few miles. We were well armed and the natives were very civil. We 

brought some lunch ï ham sandwiches, sausages and ale, which we enjoyed under a 

banian tree surrounded by a gaping crowd of natives.
12

    

During the óawfulô typhoon of 21 July 1841 off the coast of China, the Prince George, one 

of nine ships wrecked, sank within twenty minutes. Eleven crew members died, including 

the chief mate. Chilcott himself had a narrow escape from death óbeing much bruised by the 

rocksô. 

     Shipwreck was a constant threat for mariners, especially on the Great Barrier Reef. No 

lighthouses guided the journey on the outer reefs, charts were incomplete or non-existent 

and no modern instruments or satellite navigation existed to assist in what were very 

dangerous journeys. On 14 April 1845 his vessel, the ill-fated teak barque Coringa Packet, 

left Sydney headed for Ceylon. On 8 May while traversing the Coral Sea, she struck a reef. 

Chilcott survived but ten Lascars (East Indian sailors) and one passenger died.  

Ten years later, on 8 July 1855, the paddle steamer Phoenix, with Chilcott in command, 

was en route to Singapore from Batavia with a large amount of mail onboard when the 

vessel hit an uncharted sunken reef in the Torres Straits. Everyone on board survived and 

the mail was saved. Losing three ships did not imply Captain Chilcott was a bad 

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Prussia
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/August_Kavel
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Union_Flag
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Possession_Point


16 

 

commander; in fact by all accounts he was well-respected and competent. He was a careful 

man who ófelt his position very muchô. Apparently he was not the same man after this event 

and the Phoenix was his last command.
13

  

     Life was no less dramatic on the domestic front for Chilcott who was a successful man 

of property through his trading activities. He advertised homes for rent in Sydney and at 

one stage purchased land in Adelaide. The family lived in a nine-roomed house in Double 

Bay. His home was a burglary target in July 1849. Four armed and masked men invaded the 

house, with one of the men holding a gun to his head. Despite his disguise, an ex-servant, 

William Richards, who was earlier sacked for ógross improprietyô, was recognised as one of 

the thieves. The robbers got away with a variety of household goods, including silver items, 

but they were soon apprehended, one being sentenced to five years on government projects 

such as road construction. With the help of one of the convicted men, the silver was later 

found buried near the house.  

     A household servant was again in the newspapers in 1851. Following the Great Irish 

Famine, over 4,000 destitute mainly Roman Catholic workhouse girls were resettled in 

Australia under the Earl Grey emigration scheme. Chilcott took in two apprentices in 1849 

including feisty fourteen-year-old orphan Celia Dixon. She was able to read and was paid 

£8 per year as a nursemaid. She was meant to stay in indentured service for four years but 

óclandestinely removed her boxô and left in the middle of the night. When apprehended she 

said the work was too hard for her. At first she refused to return to the household, even after 

being locked up day to day by the authorities until she consented. After she returned she 

abused Chilcott and the family and found herself back at court, giving no reason for her 

conduct. Chilcott would not take her back unless he had ósome security for her good 

behaviour.ô She was sentenced to one month in Parramatta Jail.
14

  

     Captain Chilcott died of bronchitis on 9 May 1856 in Newcastle, NSW. He was only 

forty-six. He left behind second wife Helen, whom he married in Ceylon in 1842, and nine 

children, including a baby girl who was born just five months before his death. Daughter 

Mary Ann married Julius Rudder a few weeks later, as the arrangements were already in 

train. 

The Salmon, Yerbury and Burdett Connection 

Dorothyôs maternal ancestors are no less interesting. Her mother, Alice Armitage Salmon, 

was born in Kempsey in 1862 to Thomas Armitage Salmon junior (1830-1915) and Emily 
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A. Yerbury (1835-1868). The couple married in 1854 at Port Macquarie NSW. Salmon 

worked the land on the Macleay River, experiencing ósome exciting times in the struggle 

with the elements and the antagonism of the nativesô. After forty years he moved to farming 

on the Richmond River.
15

 The family was later based in Murwillumbah NSW. 

 

Alice Armitage Salmon, Dorothyôs mother. Wallace Family Collection. 

     Aliceôs grandfather, also named Thomas Armitage Salmon (1802-79), óa respectable 

looking manô, was a cloth merchant from Leeds who was sentenced to transportation to 

Australia for seven years for issuing bad cheques. After spending some months in harsh 

conditions in a prison hulk he arrived in the colony on the convict ship York in February 

1831. Being able to read and write and having a business background were important assets 

in the fledgling colony and he was quickly placed as clerk to the storekeeper at Hyde Park 

Barracks, Sydney.  

     He left his wife Sarah nee Jennings (Dorothyôs great-grandmother) and their four 

children behind England but in 1834 they crossed the world to join him, arriving in Sydney 

on the Princess Victoria. As mentioned, this was the same voyage that brought the Rudders 

from England although the Salmons travelled steerage and the Rudders in cabin class. 

Thomas was still on a ticket of leave.  
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Advertising for the Rose Inn Penrith. Sydney Gazette and NSW Advertiser 23 July 1835. Trove NLA. 

     The next year he and Sarah were the proprietors of the Rose Inn at Penrith, a substantial 

building of fourteen main rooms excluding kitchen and outbuildings, with well aired beds, 

good stabling for the horses and a choice selection of wines featuring in the advertising. 

Sarah held the lease and successfully ran the inn óin the first styleô until Salmon received 

his conditional pardon on 3 April 1835.
16

 However Sarah tragically died in 1838 at thirty 

years of age. Thomas received an absolute pardon on 29 July 1837 and from 1838-43 he ran 

a Sydney butchering business in partnership with his brother-in-law John Lloyd Smith, a 

notorious, habitual criminal who was transported for horse stealing. They met on the York 

and Smith later married Thomasô sister Mary Ann Salmon.  

     Thomas Salmon senior married three times. His second wife was Ann Bird, a child of 

former convicts and notable as the proprietor of the Sydney Gazette newspaper. With 

money from the newspaperôs sale she purchased Glenrock Plains, a property of over 5,000 

acres near Kempsey which Salmon retained ownership of after her death. He purchased 

land on the Upper Macleay River and ran an inn at South Kempsey which was also called 

the Rose Inn, so the Salmons were bound to connect with members of the extensive Rudder 

clan. In later years Salmon again took over the Rose Inn in Penrith and became a district 

registrar. His death notice describes him as óan old and respected colonistô but there was no 

mention of his convict past. 

     Many Burdetts and Armitages (Dorothyôs middle name) show up via the Salmonôs tree. 

These names originate from Mary Burdett born 1737 and Thomas Armitage born c.1728 

who married in 1758 in Penistone, Yorkshire, England. The family is distantly related to 

English philanthropist Baroness Angela Burdett-Coutts. An In Memorium notice which was 
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placed by Thomas Salmonôs third wife in the Evening News in 1894 stated he was a cousin. 

Salmonôs nephew Robert Smith (John Lloyd Smithôs son), a wealthy Sydney solicitor and 

politician, had earlier changed his middle name from Lloyd to Burdett to avoid the convict 

óstainô. Alice herself had two brothers with the middle name of Burdett, as did Dorothyôs 

brother Reginald, and two generations later, my husband Frederick Burdett Wallace. A 

small newspaper clipping about the Baroness found in her belongings is an indication 

Dorothy believed she was related to aristocracy. 

     Alice Rudderôs mother Emily was the daughter of English free settler William Yerbury 

and his wife Sarah Adams from Frome, Somerset. The family had worked in cloth making 

for many generations. William, Sarah and their four children immigrated to Australia on the 

Ward Chapman, a 740 ton barque which left Bristol on 21 August 1841. Emily was then 

six. This ship sailed as part of the bounty system which subsidised emigration of labourers 

to the colonies, arriving at Port Phillip on 6 December. The voyage was one of extreme 

hardship as the ship was very poorly provisioned. There was insufficient cooking 

equipment or utensils, no cook on board and very little water. The food provided was of 

terrible quality. The tinned food was badly sealed ï canning techniques were still in their 

infancy and the seals were not perfected. According to The Sydney Monitor and 

Commercial Advertiser twenty-one people were listed as having died (some accounts say 

twenty-two), nineteen of them children, who ódied principally of dysentery brought on by a 

change of diet and want of nourishment consequent on the long detention of part of the 

emigrants in Bristolô prior to the voyage.
17

 This reads like a colonial version of publicity 

spin aimed at diverting focus from the organisers of the ill-conceived venture. Another six 

or seven babies were born on the journey. Governor Gipps later withheld half the bounty 

payment because some immigrants did not come under the regulations and because the 

shippers and their agents had mismanaged the voyage.
18

 

     William Yerbury became an innkeeper who followed the gold rushes in NSW. Around 

1865 he ran the Albion Inn on the Wombat goldfields. Wombat is close to a town which 

was originally called Lambing Flat. Following the infamous anti-Chinese riots which broke 

out in the district in 1861 the town was renamed Young after the NSW governor. Yerbury 

died in Grenfell NSW in 1867 aged fifty-six.
19

 He did not leave a will and neither did his 

wife Sarah, who ran the hotel after Williamôs death. She died in 1891.  

     Their daughter Emily, wife of Thomas Armitage Salmon junior, died in 1868 aged 

thirty-two of childbirth complications. Alice was only six years old at the time. By a stroke 

of luck Emily had survived the notorious Ward Chapman voyage, and lived long enough to 
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give birth to Alice. Once more fate seemed to intervene in the matter of dangerous voyages 

on ships. Thomas Salmon later remarried. Depending on which records are accessed, Alice 

had six or eight siblings. 

     The thread of bankruptcy, which runs strongly through both sides of Dorothyôs family, 

was often connected to adverse economic conditions in the colony. Enoch William Rudder 

was twice bankrupted, during a time of drought and depression in 1842 and again in 1863. 

Wife Emma was supported by her wealthy father, John Betts, who fortunately financed 

them through hard times, and she herself owned the family home. Thomas Salmon senior, 

together with John Lloyd Smith, became insolvent in 1843. Thomas blamed Smith who he 

said withdrew a huge amount of money from the business to retire earlier debts. He found 

himself back in the bankruptcy court in 1861. 

     Many of the thirteen surviving children of Enoch and Emma Rudder went on to have 

very large families of their own and the Salmon clan was extensive as well. By 1888 there 

were around two hundred Rudder descendants. In addition to the union of Dorothyôs 

parents, there are many examples of intermarriage between the Rudder and Salmon families 

such as Enoch and Emma Rudderôs granddaughter Lucy marrying Thomas Armitage 

Salmonôs grandson Albert, Rudder cousins marrying each other and illegitimate offspring 

of the odd Salmon/Rudder affair.  

 

   óKhaki waltzô sheet music. Rudder, E. Augusta.  (1900). Khaki waltz. http://nla.gov.au/nla.obj-168419670 

http://nla.gov.au/nla.obj-168419670
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óRescuing a bullock from a bogô by Ruth Rudder. Sydney Mail 20 October 1926. Trove NLA. 

     Two distant relatives of Dorothyôs also stand out for their artistic talent. Ruth Eliza 

Rudder (1872-1963) was a gifted amateur artist and writer from Kempsey and Eden 

Augusta Rudder (1868-1945) wrote óThe Khaki Waltzô which was dedicated to the First 

Australian Bushmen's Contingent which was taking part in the Boer War of 1899-1902. 

Edenôs grandfather was John Verge, the architect and builder of many important colonial 

buildings in the Regency style, including John Macarthurôs Camden Park House. It was a 

complex world, but in many ways a small one. After Verge retired he settled to his property 

called Austral Eden on the Macleay River and bought land in Kempsey, hence the Rudder 

connection.  

So, Dorothy Rudderôs family tree features a remarkable cast of characters who reflect the 

wonderfully diverse backgrounds of the white settlers in colonial Australia. Dorothyôs own 

story begins in the beautiful semi-tropical NSW coastal town of Woolgoolga, 25 km north 

of Coffs Harbour and 415 km from Sydney. 

 



22 

 

Chapter Two 

The early years 1893-1911 

Our deeds still travel with us from afar. 

And what we have been makes us what we are. 

  ~ Entry by P. Salmon in Winnie Rudderôs autograph book 15 August 1914 

 

The Rudder family home (looking somewhat deserted) in Beach Street Woolgoolga NSW circa 1940s. 

Wallace Family Collection.  

Frederick Julius and Alice Rudder moved to Woolgoolga in 1894, just a year after 

Dorothyôs birth. Between 1890 and 1893 the Australian economy was in severe 

depression which may have triggered a move to the town from their farm at Kinchela. 

Their house in Beach Street was a simple wooden cottage with a front veranda and a 

corridor down the middle, bedrooms and a living room at the front and kitchen out the 

back, similar to many others in the town.  

     The Australian Town and Country Journal painted an idyllic picture of abundance.  

Woolgoolga has a fine jetty running out from the centre of a long beach to a 

point amongst the outer rollers, and steamers, which run regularly, have seldom 

any difficulty in tying up. The country round about is covered with tropical 

trees and lesser vegetation. The trees are veritable giants, and include pines and 

cedars. The forests, are very dense, and teem with pheasant, brush turkey, and 

pigeoné [Woolgoolga] is very pleasantly situated for holiday-seekers, and, if 

better known, would attract many tourists. The climate is delightful, and spring-

like all through the winter, and there are splendid opportunities for enjoyment. 
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The shell beach glistens in the sunlight like a fairy walk. Within a mile of the 

hotel a small river widens out into lakes, and affords splendid fishing and 

shooting, and oysters are abundant, and easily obtainable. Schnapper and other 

deep-sea fish are caught daily from the jetty.
1
 

For the original inhabitants of the area, the Gumbayngirr tribe, it was a different story. 

European settlement commenced around 1848 and by the 1880s large tracts of Crown 

land were leased to farmers and the Indigenous inhabitants dispossessed. The 1880s 

also marked a shameful massacre at Red Rock just north of Woolgoolga. After a 

shepherd was killed, Gumbayngirr people were shot by mounted troops at their camp at 

Blackadders Creek. The survivors were chased to the Corindi River and driven off the 

headland. By the turn of the century tribal life had ended in Woolgoogla and no 

Aboriginals attended the local school.    

     Woolgooglaôs population was around 150 in 1888. The jetty, which facilitated trade 

in timber and farm products, had been completed two years earlier. The town 

comprised a post office, general store, hotel, permanent school, three timber mills, 

three sugar mills, two butter factories, a church, and a police station with a courthouse. 

A School of Arts was added by 1910. The distance from major cities, together with the 

notoriously rough roads which were often said to be the worst in Australia, and relative 

isolation of the town from other population centres, meant long travel times. For 

instance, in 1906 a trip by car from Woolgoolga to Newcastle took two days ï a major 

undertaking.
2
 The fastest mode of travel to Sydney (346 miles away) was by steamer. 

 

Little Dot Rudder ï a strong forthright gaze for the camera. Wallace Family Collection. 

     Living near the sea presented some serious hazards, with shipwrecks and drownings 

a common occurrence along the coast. In 1896 Dorothy, not yet three, was almost left 
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fatherless when F.J. went fishing six miles from shore. Luckily he was a good 

swimmer. The Clarence and Richmond Examiner filled in the details. 

MESSRS. F. and L. Rudder and W. James went out fishing this morning é a 

sou'-west breeze sprang up, which compelled them to return to land. While 

beating towards Red Rock the boat capsized in the breakers, throwing all the 

occupants out. Finding it impossible to swim to shore they clung to the boat. 

James was entangled in the furl of the sail, and after freeing himself all got 

safely to shore, after losing their hats, boots and shirts. The boat was eventually 

secured. They walked about seven miles, and reached the jetty at dusk. They 

had a narrow escape from drowning.
3
 

The courtroom could also be a dangerous place for Dorothyôs ancestors, both as 

defendants and plaintiffs. Dorothyôs parents themselves faced the judiciary more than 

once in connection with the local hotel. In 1895 F.J. became proprietor of the 

Woolgoolga Hotel ï a commodious establishment containing thirteen bedrooms, two 

parlors, two dining rooms, a bar, two kitchens and one bathroom ï which he ran with 

Alice until June 1897. Under the lease conditions only three serves of alcohol were 

allowed per customer on any one day. F.J. also pointed out óthere were no blacks kept 

about the placeô which was supposed to be a sign of good management.  

    In 1897 a newspaper article appeared attacking F.J.ôs hotel-management skills. After 

a stay at the Woolgoolga Hotel for two nights in December 1896, the defendant (name 

not given) and his companion, Mr Apsley, wrote an article in The Grip newspaper 

critical of the way the premises were run. If this was a Trip Advisor review today, it 

would be a one star at best. F.J. did not take this lying down. He estimated losing £2 

per week through publication of the article and brought an action for libel, damages 

being laid at £200.  

     According to the court records as reported in Examiner, the defendantôs visit started 

off badly. The alcohol, which was served by a óhalf-silly looking personô, was deemed 

ónot fit to drinkô. When they asked for a place to wash, they were shown to a dirty 

washroom with perfumed soap which smelled so bad it was unuseable. The men said 

children were crawling about, the utensils and tablecloth were filthy and the quality of 

the food was so bad it made them feel sick. óOne witness said that when he took off his 

trousers lice were found crawling about his legs. Next day he made a complaint to one 
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of the servants, but when he returned next night he found nothing had been done to 

remedy matters; he did not get another room, and nothing had been done to get rid of 

the vermin.ô Three witnesses were produced who said the hotel was well run. The 

judge concluded there may have been some truth in what the defendant and others said 

but the exaggerated account had turned fair comment into libel. A verdict was found 

for Rudder of £15 plus costs.
4
 

 

Alice Rudder, right, riding side-saddle early 1900s. Wallace Family Collection. 

     Twelve bullocks plus tackle were the subjects of a second court case in nearby 

Bellingen in May 1898. Alice Rudder became the owner of this bullock team as 

payment for an outstanding £45 hotel bill owed for twelve months accommodation by 

Justin McCarthy, a man who had a liking for liquor. Aliceôs bullock team was then 

leased back to McCarthy. Why he was allowed to stay for so long without paying for 

the privilege was anyoneôs guess. Alice appeared on her own behalf. F.J. told the court 

Alice was óallowedô to keep the money obtained from board and lodging, while he took 

the bar trade and paid for the hotel goods, but McCarthy was in debt to a Mr. Matthews 

as well as Alice. The judge found for Matthews as the note of sale between Alice and 

McCarthy had not been registered in the Supreme Court within 30 days as required 

within the Bills of Sale Act. One bullock had already died and one was in bad shape 

but the others were sold and the proceeds of the sale awarded to Matthews.
5
 

     The óborrowed blanketsô court case was held in Grafton later in the year. Joseph 

Doolan had been boarding for fourteen months at the Rudderôs hotel. He borrowed two 

blue blankets and a sheet and took them down to the jetty because he was going to 

work at the local sawmill. Alice then lent him another pair of blankets, but none of the 

bedding was returned. The case was dismissed.
6
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     An intriguing story titled óThe Macleay Tin Find: What Might Have Beenô appeared 

in the Macleay Argus in 1899. Following in the footsteps of his grandfather Enoch 

William Rudder, F.J. was at one stage involved in mining ventures. And like him, he 

missed out on a fortune. F.J. had pegged out a promising tin claim of 120 acres on the 

Macleay River but lost it through litigation. The land was abandoned so, together with 

a Captain Peters, he travelled to Kempsey to stake a new claim. It was eight days too 

late; someone in the know had already applied for it, later selling for £7,000 cash 

ówithout a pick being struck in the groundô.
7
 Some years later an engineer working the 

tin mines of the Malay States would also have a big impact on Dorothyôs life by 

dangling the carrot of a promised financial reward of tin mining shares in front of her.  

     Although Dorothyôs extended family was extensive, she never knew her maternal 

grandmother Emily Salmon had who died in 1868. She undoubtedly did have contact 

with her paternal grandmother, Mary Ann Rudder, who lived with husband Julius on a 

farm near Kempsey. Mary Ann died in November 1899 when Dorothy was just six.   

     Dorothyôs dogged passion for music and singing was apparent from childhood. An 

item in the program for Edgar Warwickôs Vanity Fair Revusical Company, appearing 

in Calcutta in 1919, offers some details into her start in show business. Dorothy said 

her first experience of the stage was at three years of age when she tasted triumph as 

the Queen of the Cantata. When she was five she recalled seeing a maypole prepared 

for the dance and knowing the dance, offering to take part with the other children. To 

her disgust she got óNoô for an answer and burst into tears.
8
 

 

Jessie Pullenôs concert group 1899. Yeates, Neil, Woolgoolga The History of a Village Mid-North Coast 

N.S.W., Rotary Club of Woolgoolga, Woolgoolga NSW, 2013. 
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     Dorothyôs first reviews were for public school performances at Woolgoolga in 

1899. In April, after a full day of picnicking and sports affected by heavy rain, an 

evening concert was held. An incredible 28 items were performed, including 

óFederationô by the company of school girls trained by Miss Jessie Pullen. The 

Examiner reported óLittle Dot Rudder had to re-appear in óWatching for Paô, the 

vocalist, being only five years old, was much applaudedô. This was Dorothyôs first 

encore performance. Dorothy then sang óTwo Little Girls in Blueô with her sister 

Winnie who would later become a talented amateur pianist. A group photograph of 

Miss Pullen and her pupils shows a determined-looking Dorothy, looking as if she is 

about to throw a tantrum. Both she and Winnie, who was four years older, are dressed 

identically in smock dresses decorated with extensive piping.
9
 Dorothy already had a 

lush, thick, wavy head of hair which would proudly become her trademark.  

     The second school performance in June presented some challenges. Many of the 

children suffered from colds and a half dozen of the children in the audience ógiggled 

and talked during the rendering of some of the girlsô songs in a manner that was simply 

disgracefulô. Little Dot was once again considered óvery goodô.
10

 Later in the year a 

Church of England fundraising concert at St Augustineôs saw the girls dressed in white 

with coloured sashes, with Dorothy again singing a duet with Winnie. Dorothy also 

sang a duet with classmate Ruby Graham in a manner which belied her age.
11

 The 

concert featured a ósplendidly executedô floral march in which sixteen girls carried a 

floral arch óbut the maypole dance, although very pretty, could not be shown to 

advantage on account of insufficient roomô. (This may have been the maypole dance 

descibed by Dorothy in the Calcutta theatre program during a 1919 tour of the East.)
12

 

     After 1880 it was obligatory for parents of children between six and fourteen in 

NSW to send them to school for at least seventy days each half-year. The small public 

school Dorothy attended was one room built of wood with long desks, each seating six 

students. For eighteen years from 1900 Henry (Harry) Barnes was the head teacher. 

The Barnes family would become lifelong friends of the Rudders. In the early years 

one teacher taught all year levels. A óCertificate of a child being sufficiently educatedô 

dated 15 September 1903 reveals ten-year-old Dorothy could read an authorised 4th 

grade Reading Book, write neatly and without errors a dictated paragraph from the 

book and correctly answer mathematical questions of ordinary difficulty in simple and 

compound rules, reduction, proportion and practice. Dorothy also showed an aptitude 
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for physical activity, coming second to Pearl Salmon in the girlsô race during an 

athletics event in 1901.  

 

Horse racing Woolgoolga beach style 1907. Wallace Family Collection. 

     The small Woolgoolga community had its share of petty jealousies, grudges and 

gossip but was essentially tightly-knit, born from the necessity of meeting serious 

challenges such as illnesses, accidents or childbirth without the support system offered 

by larger towns and cities. Woolgoolga did not have a doctor or dentist, the nearest 

being based at Coffs Harbour. In 1905 the town did not even have its own baker, with 

bread being delivered by mail coach. 

     Early in that year the threat of bubonic plague (termed the Black Death in the 14th 

century) hung over the mid-north coast. In Woolgoolga the Rudder household was 

affected. They lived close to the jetty which harboured many rats and a dying flea-

infested rat was found in their house so on the advice of the police, the specimen was 

scalded in hot water and mailed to Dr Millard from the Health Department. The rat 

turned out to be either plague infected or just showed suspicious indications, depending 

on local newspaper reports. The doctor asked for more samples to inspect and the 

family was advised to vacate the premises and fumigate immediately. They must have 

been quite apprehensive; however no-one in town caught the plague during this 

outbreak.
13

  

     Residents gained much enjoyment from getting together for special occasions. 

Many photographs depict water-based activities; picnics packed in a suitcase; and 

horse races on the beach. Concerts at the School of Arts, a basic wooden building with 

a library, were held for a myriad of reasons ï to raise funds for churches and the 
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school, to support educational lectures or celebrate patriotic events. Menôs smoke 

concerts, ógents onlyô events with relaxed rules of decorum, were also given. It cost 

one shilling to attend the weekly dances, and 3/6 a double for the monthly balls. People 

came on horseback and by buggy from all over the district to attend. 

                        

Dorothy Rudder as a young girl. An early theatrical pose. Both images Wallace Family Collection. 

     The few surviving photographs of a young Dorothy show a well-dressed girl with a 

lovely face and smile, large intelligent eyes (later photographs show them to be blue) 

with a petite figure and tiny waist. Her beautiful, thick and somewhat unruly long hair 

photographed darker than it was in reality. Of the number of locks of hair kept in the 

suitcase, one is a rich golden brown and fits the description of Dorothyôs hair. 

     Dorothy sang at the inauguration of Empire Day, which was celebrated by 

schoolchildren nationwide on 24 May 1905 ï Queen Victoriaôs birthday. The children 

swore allegiance to King and country, felt pride in being part of the British Empire and 

had a good time playing sport and letting off firecrackers. In Woolgoolga a large new 

Union Jack was unfurled. Speeches óemphasised the liberty and justice that were 

enjoyed under British ruleô and urged the children óto worthily uphold the noblest 

traditions of the nationô.
14

 After a picnic the girls played croquet, swings, skips, quoits, 

and rounders [a game similar to softball], while cricket and football matches occupied 

the boys. In the evening a social was held with the music and eveningôs entertainment 

supplied by local residents which ócontributed much to the evening's enjoymentô.
15

 

This included a solo by Dorothy, who was now eleven. 
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     In 1907, Dorothyôs grandfather farmer Julius Rudder died at the great age of eight-

two, while on a visit to Sydney. Going against the family trend he did leave a will; his 

assets included a commodious seven room residence with beautiful views in Kempsey. 

And F.J. again had a narrow escape from drowning. The Raleigh Sun termed the event 

óa boating accident of an unusual and exciting characterô. F.J. and son Clarrie had put 

out from Woolgoolga for a spot of schnapper fishing, but were caught in heavy seas 

two miles from shore. The boat capsized then was righted by a large wave. The 

occupants managed to get back in but had to sit in cold sea water up to their necks. 

Back on shore the wharf manager became anxious as to their safety. A small boat went 

out to find them but had to return as the sea was too rough. By a stroke of good fortune 

a motor launch was at the jetty but because the waves were so high the owner had to 

herocially lash himself to the mast to spot the missing boat. By the time they were 

found, their boat had turned over again and F.J. was in the water and his son on the 

boat. Both men were exhausted after two hours of immersion, and ówhen they were put 

ashore received many congratulations upon escaping a watery grave and the men who 

went put on so dangerous a mission were also made the recipients of many very highly 

deserved congratulationsô.
16

  

       

Musically themed card from Alice to Dorothy. Dorothy most likely dressed for Clarrieôs wedding 1908. 

Both images Wallace Family Collection. 

     Clarrie was the first Rudder sibling to marry, at St Augustineôs Church Woolgoolga, 

in June 1908. The bride, Pauline Raditz, wore an ivory silk voile dress trimmed with 
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guipure lace. Dorothy acted as bridesmaid and was attired in a white silk dress and 

white felt hat trimmed with bows of glacé [glossy] silk. The forty guests were 

entertained at a reception at the Rudder family home and the presents, which numbered 

over fifty, ówere both useful and costlyô. The honeymoon was spent in the nearby town 

of Grafton where the couple would settle and bring up five children.
17

 

     Dorothy and Winnie both received a more comprehensive education than most girls 

in Australia at the turn of the twentieth century. It was socially desirable for upper and 

middle class girls to be taught music or undertake singing lessons. If a student 

exhibited musical talent, chances were this talent would be encouraged and so it was 

with Dorothy. By 1908 she was a boarding student at the Convent of Mercy at Grafton, 

sixty miles from Woolgoolga, studying music and the arts, and excelling at piano. 

While the Rudders were Church of England, the school was a Catholic institution. This 

did not seem a source of conflict for Dorothyôs parents or the school. As the school 

records from these years are lost, it is unknown how long she attended. Towards the 

end of 1908 both Dorothy and Winnie received their Diploma of Associate of the 

London College of Music (Senior Honours) for pianoforte through the school. They 

both scored 87.
18

 Apart from being taught music and religion, during a visit to Grafton 

in 1910, the new Bishop Dr Carroll outlined the ódomestic virtuesô of sobriety, justice 

and industry as key; at the same time the aim was to foster habits of independence, 

self-reliance, thrift and community-mindedness. The students regularly attended church 

and for exercise swam in a shark-proof swimming pool constructed on the Clarence 

River near the convent. Concerts were given at Graftonôs Theatre Royal in which 

Dorothy may have participated. The convent also held an annual ball, with and 

increbile 500 people attending in Dorothyôs year.
19

 

     For a small town Woolgoolga had a surprising variety of churches; the Rudders 

supported every church event. When the new Methodist Hall was opened in 1906 

Dorothy sang two songs to an óuncomfortably crowdedô house including óThe Wishing 

Cupô and óDaddy Dearô.
20

 On 7 November. a Church of England Kingôs Birthday 

celebration included a gift tree loaded with around 400 presents donated by many 

community members. Together with Master Mould, Dorothy sang a duet entitled óLove 

and Prideô which received a loud encore. A Grand Concert and Ball were held in the 

School of Arts to raise funds for building materials for the Catholic Church in 1907. 

Dorothy again sang two songs and Winnie accompanied all the performers on the 

piano. The choice of songs was quite eclectic. A well-known tune entitled óThe 
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Coloured Four Hundredô ï subtitled óThe Dandy Marching Songô parodied New York 

high society. Another song óGod Bless Our Commonwealthô celebrated the important 

achievement of the federation of the six Australian colonies in 1901.
21

 On 5 May 1909 

Dorothy sang at a concert to welcome the new Presbyterian district minister Rev. Mr 

Jones. This ómost happy eveningô is interesting due to the large number of 

representatives from other Christian religious groups in attendance.
22

 Although serious 

tensions and divisions between Roman Catholics (often of Irish heritage) and 

Protestants of British background were apparent in Australian society, in Woolgoolga 

people of different religious persuasions appeared to co-exist in relative harmony. 

    

Picnicking and boating at Woolgoolga. Both images Wallace Family Collection. 

     In addition to performing and going to school, at the age of fifteen Dorothy was 

taking responsibility for organising other children for local concerts. At a 

schoolchildrenôs concert in June 1909, this time to raise funds for the Church of 

England choir, óA grand floral march formed a delightful spectacle, forty gaily dressed 

children, bearing floral wreaths, going through the intricate figures with a precision of 

movement which spoke volumes for their instructors é Mrs Emery and Miss Dorothy 

Rudderô. Dorothy óacted as accompaniste and instructress in the songsô and sang óRule 

Britanniaô with a chorus by the company. Dorothyôs mother Alice performed the 

secretarial duties and helped prepare the children. Her óuntiring efforts were in no little 

way responsible for the successful culmination of the concertô.
23

 

     Other family members sometimes featured on stage. The School of Arts, which had 

become run down, had been revived by a new committee including F.J. as President. 

óThey have ample scope for their enthusiasm, for the building is somewhat dilapidated, 

the windows and doors being defective, and the ceiling riddled with white ants. 

Otherwise it is perfectly sound.ô Shades of Basil Fawltyôs óOtherwise OKô?  
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            Being part of the community meant using the local policemanôs uniform for dress ups.  

            A rare survivor ς The Our Boys flyer July 1909. Both images Wallace Family Collection. 

     The Examiner noted the performance of Our Boys by the Woolgoolga Dramatic 

Company in July 1909 which attracted the largest audience ever to attend. The flyer 

survives and lists Dorothy as Mary Melrose, the poor cousin of an heiress, but on this 

occasion it was her fatherôs turn in the spotlight. óThe production of the play was a 

delightful surprise to Woolgoolga residents who never anticipated that such a degree of 

success could be attained by local amateurs. Mr. F.J. Rudder, as Mr. Middlewick, kept 

the house fairly bubbling with mirth throughout the evening, and his delineation of the 

character was worthy of a professional.ô
24

 Theatrical talent obviously ran in the family.  

 

Did baritone Post Mason care about the unuseable piano at Woolgoolga? Trove NLA. 

      While Woolgoolga was not number-one priority on the regional touring circuit, top 

performers sometimes paid a visit. In 1910 the Post Mason Company, a group of 
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vaudeville entertainers, was greeted with a crowded house. However the performance 

conditions were less than ideal. 

The pictures [films] were much appreciated, as also were two items sung by 

[American operatic baritone] Mr. Post Mason, though the artist was under the 

disadvantage of having no accompaniment. The piano in the local hall has been 

in such a lamentable condition for some time past that it is impossible to use it. 

The question of replacing it is one that the committee should grapple with 

forthwith. High class companies cannot be expected to appear in a hall where 

there is practically no piano.
25

 

Thankfully, a new Allison piano was finally purchased in 1913. 

   

óThis is the way Arthur gets up all the big hills ς hangs on to poor Dollyôs tail ς but she doesnôt seem to 

mind a serap [scrap] ς Win.ô Postcard to Dorothy 28 July 1910. Wallace Family Collection. 

Winnie Rudder and Arthur Wallace on their wedding day 1910. Photographer Angus McNeil Kempsey. 

Wallace Family Collection. 

     In March 1910, Dorothyôs sister Winnie married schoolteacher Arthur Wallace at 

the School of Arts hall in front of sixty guests. He had earlier proposed to her at the end 

of the Woolgoolga jetty one moonlit night. Dorothy, once more a bridesmaid, ówas 

neatly attired in embroidered Swiss muslin with handsome Malines laceô while Alice 

ówas gowned in a handsome dove silk voile, hat to matchô.
26

 The bridegroom gave his 

wife, a ómassive gold bangleô while Dorothy received a gold brooch. The gifts from the 

guests included several cheques.
27
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Winnie and Dorothy with horse and buggy 1908. Wallace Family Collection. 

     Two years previously, Winnie sent Arthur a photograph of herself and Dorothy 

sitting in a buggy. Writing on the back she described their near accident. óMy poor 

horse got startled, going through the scrub near Herdôs. He bolted with me, and it was a 

marvel we werenôt smashed up. Donôt know how we missed the trees.ô The girls were 

rescued by their brother Reg and they had to leave the horse behind in the bush. óIôm 

very much afraid he wonôt be of much use now.ô It was easy to find a horse in the 

district, however. Discarded horses like this one would often find a new óownerô, being 

picked up by someone else, especially by the local children, and ridden around town or 

onto the beach.  

 

Dorothyôs confirmation certificate 1910. Wallace Family Collection. 

     On 9 June 1910, sixteen-year-old Dorothy was confirmed into the Anglican Church 

in the diocese of Grafton and Armidale. The confirmation card featured a pretty image 
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of passionfruit flowers draped around a cross, topped by a star and gold crown radiating 

lines of holiness. It was signed by visiting clergyman the Rev. Frederick de Porte St 

John, a man with a distinguished surname. A quick search reveals a baron and earls in 

their lineage and listings in Debrettôs and Burkeôs Peerage. (Novelist Madeleine St John 

of The Women in Black fame was his granddaughter.) In June 1910 he conducted the 

opening ceremony for the Woolgoolga Grand Fancy Fair, held in aid of the St 

Augustineôs Building Fund. The fair illustrates the strong community spirit in the town. 

óMirth and good humour prevailed everywhere.ô The interior of the hall was covered in 

flags, palms and flowers which helped to cover its dilapidated state. All the stallholders 

decorated their spaces and wore fancy costume. Dorothy again sang a selection of songs 

at a concert even though it was teeming with rain. The fair concluded with a Bruce 

auction, a popular combination of auction and bazaar.
28

 

     In November Dorothy sang three óvery nicely renderedô Scottish songs to 

accompany a óvery interesting and instructiveô lecture on the óLife of [Robert] Burnsô 

by Rev. A. Robertson, the Presbyterian minister who officiated at Winnie and Arthurôs 

wedding in March. Robertson illustrated his subject with lantern views, an early type of 

presentation technology and forerunner to the slide projector.
29

 

 

Interesting sketch from Dorothyôs autograph book possibly commenting on Chinese immigration. 

Wallace Family Collection. 

The George Marlow Dramatic Company óMarlowdramasô  

After graduating from the Grafton Convent, at the age of seventeen Dorothy moved to 

Sydney. Surprisingly, her first foray into the world of professional theatre was in three 
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melodramas for theatrical entrepreneur George Marlow in 1911 ï The Bad Girl of the 

Family, Under Two Flags, and Driving a Girl to Destruction. It was quite a jump from 

living at home and performing at local community events. By the time Dorothy met 

Marlow, his touring companies had already been all around Australia, including many 

regional centres. F.J. and Alice encouraged Dorothyôs musical activities but not every 

seventeen-year-old country girl was allowed to travel unchaperoned with a theatrical 

company. 

     At various stages during her career, Dorothy used the stage name Dorothy May and 

it first appears during the  Marlow season. óDorothy Mayô was a popular song, a brand 

of hairpins (and a racehorse). Why the change from Rudder? Maybe Rudder did not 

sound romantic enough for a stage performer. Whatever the reason, she often appeared 

under her real name as well, often alternating between names depending on her 

activities. She used Dorothy May when working in variety theatre but had dropped this 

pseudonym altogether after 1927.  

     Following an extensive national tour, on 5 April 1911 Frederick Melvilleôs play The 

Bad Girl of the Family opened at Marlowôs brand new Adelphi Theatre Sydney, then 

the largest theatre in Australia (it was later renamed the Grand Opera House and later 

still became the Tivoli Theatre). Special attention had been paid to ventilation ï sliding 

roofs covered the stage and auditorium. Marlow, who was not adverse to a touch of 

hyperbole, advertised the show as óthe latest and most outstanding drama that has ever 

been introduced in Australia, which ran for over 600 nights in London and was 

attended by Royalty é all Society and the Massesô were welcome. The play had a 

successful seven-week run and starred Nellie Ferguson as the bad girl, Robert Inman as 

the hero, and Essie Clay as the heroine.  

 

The Pillow Fight Scene. British postcard. Authorôs collection. 
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     The Bad Girl of the Family was a potboiler; well and truly overcooked, but lots of 

fun too. Melbourneôs Argus summarised the story: óNaturally the discovery of her 

intrinsic worth takes some hours. Sadly two lives are sacrificed in the process and 

many estimable and innocent people are driven to desperate straits and terrible anguish 

but in all triumphs some must suffer.ô
30

 Dorothy played one of the seven shop girls 

involved in a strenuous dormitory pillow fight with an invading force of three 

policemen in a scene of pure pantomime, which the girls win. Pillows against batons? 

No contest of course. 

     Marlow followed up at the Adelphi on 20 May with Under Two Flags, a dramatic 

version of the novel by British writer Ouida (Maria Louise Ramé). The plot of the play, 

peppered with gambling debts, moneylending, doctoring horses, and competition for 

the leading man, revolved around French army officers in an overheated desert 

environment. At the coup de grâce a girl named Cigarette (played by Marlowôs wife, 

Ethel Buckley) throws herself in front of an officer as he is about to be executed by 

firing squad. She takes the bullet and doesnôt make it. Dorothy played Countess Olga, a 

minor role.
31

 The show used real horses, placed in hard-to-hide iron stays while trotting 

on a machine. This set up led to real life drama on stage. During one matinee Ethel 

Buckley was riding for her life across the Algerian desert when the horse slipped off 

the stage and fell over the footlights. Ethel jumped clear and was badly shaken but how 

the poor horse fared was not noted.  

 

Entrepreneur and man about town George Marlow. Authorôs collection. 
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Stunning poster of the film version of Driving a Girl to Destruction 1911. From the National Film and 

Sound Archive of Australia / https://www.nfsa.gov.au/  

https://www.nfsa.gov.au/
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     Continuing with the melodrama theme, Driving a Girl to Destruction by Mrs 

Morton Powell opened on 17 June. Unusually, the play premiered at the matinee and 

not at night. The main players were British stage stars Louise Hampton and Cecil 

Mannering, Nellie Ferguson and Ethel Buckley. Dorothy was one of twenty-five cast 

members and again played a minor role as one of the girls named Susie Smith.  

     The four acts of the play were Act I. óA Girlôs Honorô; Act 11. óGiving a Girl a Bad 

Nameô; Act III. óDriving a Girl to Destructionô; Act IV. óSaving a Girl from Sinô. As 

the advertising stated, it had sensation, tragedy, pathos and humour blended together. It 

ends with a fight to the death between two women, using any available tools including 

knives, revolvers and even a kitchen dresser loaded with crockery. The Sunday Times 

had worries about Mr Marlowôs bottom line. óThe ñlydiesò then get to holts and upset 

and destroy furniture, and finally fall downstairs, breaking the bannister in the 

operation. George Marlow really should speak severely to these two, the damage they 

did to good stage props was really unpardonable.ô
32

 

     July 10, 1911 saw the opening of The Bad Girl of the Family at Adelaideôs Theatre 

Royal in a revival season, marking Dorothyôs first visit to the city. The Registerôs 

theatre critic commented óNo one who witnessed the performance é on Saturday night 

could complain of not having obtained sufficient for the price of admission. Having 

started at 7.45 pm and lasted until after 11 oôclock, with seventeen scenes, it made up 

in quantity what it lacked in quality.ô As usual, the audience enjoyed the anarchy of the 

pillow fight which drew ómerriment and applauseô.
33

  

    Dorothy celebrated her eighteenth birthday on 8 August. The company commenced a 

regional tour of NSW and Queensland in the same month performing various plays. 

The tour included Newcastle and Brisbane and didnôt finish until mid-October. On 30 

September Dorothy received a small mention from Rockhamptonôs Morning Bulletin 

reviewer who said óOther characters were well sustained by Misses Dorothy May, Ina 

Alston and B. Murdochô among others. Not over the top but her first professional 

review. 

     Marlow and his Australian Picturised Drama Company made a silent film version of 

Driving a Girl to Destruction with the regular acting troupe, incorporating the sights of 

Rockhampton such as the courthouse and local hotels. This óhouse fillerô was produced 

by Longford Lyell Productions. Released in November 1911, it had a length of 3,000 

feet and was available to exhibitors for rent only. No print has survived which is not 

surprising, considering the volatile nature of nitrate films and lack of importance 
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attached to film preservation in earlier years. An opportunity to see Dorothy in 

celluloid has gone, but the stunning poster still remains. 

     Marlowôs film received a negative review from the Dean of Newcastle during his 

sermon from the pulpit at Newcastle Cathedral.  

How could young people, he asked, be taught high ideals when they were 

presented with cheap neurotic representations, in which mock heroes were 

made of criminals? There was, he added, a grave danger to our public morality 

in this craze for fictitious excitement and luxury. One of the placards he saw, 

"Driving a girl to destruction," and similar medleys of hideous immoral 

suggestion, [were] designed to excite popular taste. They were unwholesome; 

unseemly and uncleanô.
34

  

Marlow responded that melodramas were a way of teaching the young how to avoid the 

dangers awaiting them in the world. Other religious and community leaders were 

unhappy with the evil influence of the picture shows on the youth of 1912, and did not 

want them shown at all on a Sunday. The debate over what activities were appropriate 

was long-running. Rudder relatives in Kempsey wrote to the local papers in 1903 

stating that tennis, ping-pong and betting on foot races dishonoured the Sabbath, the 

latter turning young men into óinane drivelling nonentities with no ambition but to get 

ahead in a fifty yard sprintô.
35

 F.J. Rudder on the other hand was more relaxed about 

this issue. He supported local horse racing and enjoyed a drink.  

 

Drawing of Dorothy óAt Charm Bayô by óAECô 1912. Wallace Family Collection. 
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The romantic Mirror Pool Woolgoolga Creek. Dorothy at left. Wallace Family Collection. 

     It is diverting to have a look at the Grafton Daily Examiner and check out the items 

featuring in the local news when Dorothy returned home for Christmas. Roller skating 

had become very fashionable. The season closed with Mr Gunderson and Miss Rudder 

(Dorothy?) winning a prize for best double skating. A heavy storm uprooted trees and 

damaged telephone lines; a rifle match was held between Woolgoolga and Coffs 

Harbour gun clubs; an act of sabotage occurred at the timber mill with timber being 

placed among the machinery wheels but was discovered just in time and the waiting-

shed on the jetty was disfigured with óobscene writingô.
36

 Even a small town such as 

Woolgoolga had its examples of anti-social behaviour. 
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Chapter Three 

Dorothy and the Garcia School of Music 

óIt is the fashion to speak of the artistic temperament when excuses are being made for 

talented Australians who are too lazy to work in a systematic manner. The misfortune 

of the óartistic temperamentô is that so many persons have the temperament and so few 

the art.ô ~ Madame Christian The Star 1907 

 

Garcia Centre St Vincentôs College Potts Point, formerly the Garcia School of Music. Authorôs photo. 

By November 1911 Dorothy had made the decision to focus on her voice rather than 

her acting skills as she was by then enrolled as a singing student with Madame 

Christian at the Garcia School of Music. This was quite a switch from performing on 

stage in melodramas. 

     Soprano and singing teacher Mary Ellen Christian (1848-1941) was taught by the 

celebrated teacher of voice production Manuel Garcia. Although she had a successful 

career in London, in 1871 she travelled to Australia as the all-pervasive and polluted 

London fog was adversely affecting her voice. Christian was Dame Nellie Melbaôs first 

professional singing teacher while Melba was a student at Melbourneôs Presbyterian 

Ladies College. After retiring from singing in 1894 at age 46, Christian took religious 

vows, entering the Sisters of Charity congregation as Sister Mary Paul of the Cross. In 

1895 she taught voice at St Vincentôs College Potts Point Sydney as Madame 

Christian. The earlier School of Music she founded in 1897 was renamed the Garcia 

School of Music in 1905. According to the Australian Womenôs Weekly, as a nun she 

was never able to attend her pupilsô concerts. 
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Madame Christian. Illustrated Australian News 1 December 1892. Trove NLA. 

     Madame Christian was a proponent of the bel canto method of singing (literally 

translated as beautiful singing). Bel Canto operas include those by 19th century Italian 

composers Rossini, Bellini and Donizetti. According to Melba biographer Ann 

Blainey, óExponents of the style were renowned for their pure voices and brilliant trills 

and scalesé The basis of the technique was control of the breathé Once mastered, a 

bel canto technique could extend the vocal range, produce a seamless tone up and 

down the scale and provide a flexibility and technical virtuosity that other methods 

have seldom matched.ô
1
 

     The Garcia School of Music overlooked Sydney Harbour at Potts Point, and 

consisted of four three-storied terrace houses in a row ï two for classrooms and two for 

boarding accommodation. There were 100 girls in residence and 100 day students. A 

large domed music salon ran the length of the building. The facilities also included 

teaching and practice rooms, a recreation room, sixty bedrooms with balconies and 

twenty bathrooms. 

     As well as voice training, which was her principal subject, Dorothy was taught 

piano, Italian, French and German (essential skills for singing opera), music theory, 

harmony and counterpoint, choral singing, oratorio and operatic class work and sight 

reading. Lessons in English, physical culture, elocution and deportment were also 

offered.        
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     A four page contract signed by Madame Christian, Dorothy and F.J. Rudder on 8 

April 1913 sheds light on the conditions under which Dorothy was instructed in the art 

of singing. The contract was to run for three years at an annual fee of 90 guineas. This 

included full board and lodging during term and tuition in the several branches of 

music and musical subjects taught at the school. Instruction in the art of singing was to 

be personally given by Madame Christian. The parents were to provide clothing, 

cutlery, bedding, books, medicines and medical attendance. 

 

A page from the contract between the Garcia School of Music, Dorothy Rudder and F.J. Rudder. 

Wallace Family Collection. 

     Madame Christian was to have ófull control of the studentô, who was not to 

undertake any concert engagement without approval. Dorothy had to agree to perform 

public concerts for the Garcia School with all profits and fees (apart from travelling 

expenses) to go to the school. The school prospectus, which featured images of 

students including Eugenie Boland, Carrie Lanceley, Kate Rooney and Ella Caspers 
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who went on to have successful careers, highlighted how public appearances enabled 

students to ógain experience and the discipline necessary to secure the mental, technical 

and nerve control, without which their musical possibilities cannot rightly be 

estimatedô. 

      Students were required to conduct themselves with decorum and propriety, to study 

diligently and óshall be allowed such bodily exercise, recreation and amusement as 

Madame Christian shall consider properô. If the student or parent breached the 

agreement the parent would be liable for the sum of two hundred and seventy guineas 

being at the rate of 90 guineas per year, minus any money already paid. This 

substantial sum was only affordable by families of some means, the average annual 

male wage being £133. F.J. had been the Woolgoolga shipping agent for Langley Bros 

line of steamers since 1911 and managed to cover the cost.  

     One example has been found to date of Madame Christianôs opinion of Dorothyôs 

voice. At a complimentary (fundraising) concert organised by Woolgoolga locals for 

Dorothy on 27 July 1912, the Examiner stated óThe crowded house was a worthy 

tribute to the esteem and respect that the family is held in by local residents. For many 

years Mr. Rudder and his family have taken the leading part in all public and social 

functions. Miss Rudder possesses a beautiful soprano voice é Madame Christian, 

under whom she is studying, writes in unqualified praise of the values of Miss 

Rudderôs voice and of its possibilities.ô
2
 

     Dorothyôs public-concert appearances in connection with the school varied from 

invitation-only musicales for Sydney socialites and music lovers, concerts featuring a 

particularly promising pupil assisted by the Garcia students, to end of year 

presentations and charity events. W.J. Grieves, a leading Sydney musician and teacher 

of violin at the school, often performed with the Garcia students, choir and orchestra. 

He would become a life-long friend of Dorothyôs.  

     In September the Sydney Town Hall was decorated in peach, plum and cherry 

blossoms for a fundraising ball for St Vincentôs Hospital attended by such luminaries 

as the wife of the Governor General, Lady Denham, Lord Richard Neville and the Lady 

Mayoress. Among the musical items was a duet by Dorothy and fellow student, 

contralto Rose Fitzgerald, called óRing on Sweet Angelusô.
3
 Fitzgeraldôs voice was 

considered by the reviewer to be ócarefully trainedô and óof resonant timbreô. By June 

1913 Fitzgerald was selected as óthe most promising student of the seasonô and made 

her debut in a concert of songs by Irish national poet Tom Moore. Her name would 
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later pop up as a performer in The Sparklers troupe alongside Dorothy in Brisbane in 

1921.
4
 

 

Dorothy 18 years old April 1912. Photograph by Johnson Studios Sydney. Wallace Family Collection. 

               

  Garcia Annual Concert flyer 16 December 1912. Wallace Family Collection. 

Advertisement Miss Kathleen OôBrienôs Concert. The Bathurst Times 5 December 1912. Trove NLA. 

     Reviews for Garcia concerts early in 1912 list Dorothy as a participant but no solos 

are noted until the 29 June concert. At the October event many latecomers insisted on 

taking their seats immediately, interrupting both the singers on the platform and the 
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audience. On 5 December Garcia student contralto Kathleen OôBrien gave a concert in 

her home town of Bathurst NSW with Dorothy one of the support artists or ócompany 

of entertainersô. The Bathurst National Advocate was impressed by her performance. 

óFor one so young, Miss Dorothy Rudderôs soprano voice is brilliant and pure é her 

best effort was undoubtedly Tostiôs hackneyed ñGoodbyeò and we doubt we have ever 

heard such a clever turn on the last goodbye of each verse.ô
5
 The Advocateôs critic óEx-

Bathurstianô who was based in Sydney ópredicted a great future for herô. He stated 

óGood Sydney judges now share that opinionô.
6
  

     The audience was large and appreciative at the Garcia annual concert, held at the 

Sydney Town Hall on 16 December. The Sydney Morning Herald praised Dorothyôs 

especially bright and effective work while the Catholic newspaper Freemanôs Journal 

said óMiss Dorothy Rudder, whose rich voice gave evidence of power, and the 

possession of dramatic temperament, sang ñCarmenaò with much brilliancy.ô
7
 The 

Daily Telegraph thought she was óa young lady with a cultured voice of richness and 

powerô.
8
  

     It was early days, but Dorothy was beginning to be noticed by reviewers. 

 

Floral tributes following a concert were a serious business. Wallace Family Collection. 

     Dorothy often travelled between Sydney and the mid-north coast in 1912, 

participating in Garcia School concerts and appearing at local School of Arts halls 
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when she returned home for holidays. Although she was due to participate in a 

Kempsey fundraiser on 2 and 4 July with dramatic soprano Fannie Bauer (who 

originally came from Grafton) and pianist Alicia Nolan, she did not appear due to 

being óindisposed'.  

     A balance sheet for a concert Fanny Bauer gave for the Casino Hospital the 

previous year provides an insight into how the actual finances were managed. It 

appeared in the local newspaper because there was gossip in the town about a private 

supper being paid for through ticket sales. In this instance, the performer was paid half 

the takings after expenses were deducted, with the hospital receiving the other half. 

Dorothyôs concerts would have involved a similar arrangement. 

 

Another rare survivor. Flyer for Taree concert 19 December 1912. Wallace Family Collection. 

     More recognition now came Dorothyôs way. Dorothy gave successful concerts at 

Coffs Harbour on 16 August 1912 (postponed from 24 July for reasons unknown and 

again from 31 July due to inclement weather) and Taree on 19 December, both assisted 
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by local talent. Although moderately attended, the Taree audience responded 

favourably. The Manning River Times was puzzled as to why so many local music 

lovers had not attended, but several other attractions had competed for patrons. The 

reviewer commented: 

The sweetness of [Dorothyôs] singing was delightful to listen to, and her 

effective intonation and pleasing expression were highly appreciated. She was 

particularly brilliant in her upper notes, which were beautifully clear, whilst her 

lower register is full and mellow é The talented vocalist possesses a 

marvellous voice for one so young, and as she is still in her teens, a promising 

career is assured.ô
9
 

At her vocal recital at the Good Templars Hall at Kempsey on 23 January 1913, 

assisted by violinist Professor Wall and local amateurs, the attendance was again only 

moderate and ónot at all commensurate with the quality of the entertainmentô. 

According to the Macleay Argus Miss Rudder was a leading Sydney artist who óhas a 

nicely trained voice of a full compass. She sang ñCoo-eeò in excellent style and was 

recalled three times.ô The Argus added that Julius Rudder, who formerly lived at 

Commandant Hill near Kempsey, was her grandfather.
10

 

     Dorothy had somehow dropped two years from her real age of nineteen. Lismoreôs 

Northern Star stated she was a soprano of seventeen summers (and that she planned to 

visit Europe in the near future).
11

 This was not an uncommon action by women in the 

theatrical arena, given the pressure to look young; still, it is very strange to do this 

while still a teenager. Was there an age stipulation at the Garcia School of Music?  

The Macleay Chronicle reviewer supplied a description of her appearance and style on 

stage which indicated she was showing confidence in front of an audience.  

A young lady of seventeen summers who already has both feet on the ladder of 

fame ï and ómost all whoôve heard her predict for her a giddy height on the 

golden rungs. Gracefully moulded, yet sturdy withal, topped with an abundance 

of fair brown hair, this tastefully frocked girl with the somewhat petite features 

impresses immediately with her stage presence and confident intonation.
12 

On 14 February Dorothy gave a sold-out concert at Woolgoolga, an attendance record 

for the town, with some unable to obtain admission. She was assisted by local artists 
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including good friend Charlie Younger who sang óHas Anyone Seen My Little Maryô. 

Winnie accompanied each act on the piano. In an article promoting the concert the 

Examiner wrote: 

On Friday evening Miss Dorothy Rudder é will give a concert in the School of 

Arts é her excellent soprano voice has commanded much attention in many 

parts of the state. The "Town and Country Journal" referred in particular in 

flattering terms to her vocal renderings at a recent concert in the Town Hall 

Sydney, and held out great promise for her future career.
13

 Likewise the 

Bathurst and Kempsey papers referred to her performances in those cities in 

most eulogistic terms. Woolgoolga residents are justly proud of their young 

artiste and Friday night's concert promises to be an unqualified success. 
14

 

After the concert the Examiner praised Dorothyôs contributions ówhich clearly 

demonstrated the volume, range and sweetness of the young singerôs voice and 

confirmed the high encomiums that have been accorded it by the leading journals 

throughout the State.ô
15

 Further successful recitals followed on the north coast 

including one at Coffs Harbour on 26 February, this time to a good house. The 

Advocate commented how her song choices:  

Proved that the young lady could sing in widely different pieces with the same 

ease. The long sustained high notes were given without apparent effort, 

showing a great capacity of any amount of practice é Miss Rudder in Tostiôs 

ñGoodbyeò excelled herself. Seldom have we heard this so beautifully given. It 

would be difficult for anyone to find fault and we must heartily congratulate the 

young performer on her magnificent effort.
16

 

Her status was still as a student participating in school and community concerts but her 

repertoire was starting to build. Musical items included Rossiniôs bel canto classic óBel 

Raggioô, Bordeseôs óVashtiô, óA Dream of Homeô (Arditi), óA Cossack Slumber Songô 

(Nicholls) and Lane Wilsonôs óCarmenaô. 

    Back in Sydney, Dorothy took part in an invitation concert on 29 May for Garcia 

student soprano Gertrude Corr at the YMCA Hall. Dorothy was part of a double girls 

quartet singing Westôs óStars of the Summer Nightô. Corr made a nervous start and The 

Sydney Morning Herald gave her a mixed review. On 11 June Master Willie Houston, 

a talented boy-violinist from W.J. Grievesô studio, gave a concert at the same venue. 
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Houston ójustified his masterôs faith in his ability to interest an audience in his 

remarkable progressô according to the Herald  but his musical career, like that of many 

other talented children, did not progress to adulthood. Dorothy again assisted; she 

óagreeably varied the programô by singing óFarewellô by Reis.
17  

 

     By 13 July 1913 Dorothy, who had returned to Woolgoolga for the mid-winter 

holidays, participated in a farewell concert for the townôs popular forest ranger. The 

Grafton Argus reviewer wrote that Dorothy ósurprised and delighted her many friendsô 

and praised her voice for its range, quality and sweetness. Winnie provided the piano 

accompaniment and was herself praised during her introductory solo for her ólightness 

of touch and expression which can only be exhibited by an accomplished musicianô.
18

  

      Dorothy sang again five days later to a good-sized audience at the Woolgoolga 

School of Arts, supported by local talent including Winnie as accompanist. Something 

strange occurred on this night. The Advocate believed the best song of the four she 

contributed was probably óA Moorish Maidô which was ósplendidly renderedô. In spite 

of that óan encore was declined by the singerô.
19

 Dorothy was usually more than willing 

to respond to an audienceôs love and request for another song. Something was wrong 

on this occasion. 
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Chapter Four 

The First World War  ï Family and friends enlist 

So many gods, so many creeds, 

So many paths that wind and wind 

While just the act of being kind 

Is all this sad world needs.  

~ Ella Wheeler Wilcox  

 

Manly Beach ï Summer is Here 1913. Oil on canvas by Ethel Carrick Fox, later a friend of Dorothyôs. 

Manly Art Gallery and Museum Sydney. Gift of the artist 1934.  

 

  

On the back of this sailing image Dorothy wrote óDonôt we look happy, twig me with the pipeé Donôt   

lose this.ô Wallace Family Collection. 

Kirchner girl style postcard sent by Arthur Wallace to wife Winnie during the war. Wallace Family 

Collection. 

http://www.amazon.com/exec/obidos/external-search?tag=brainyquote-20&keyword=Ella%20Wheeler%20Wilcox#_blank
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The National Museum of Australia dedicated a centenary exhibition entitled Glorious 

Days: Australia 1913, to óa time of tremendous optimism, when Australians took pride 

in their distinctive culture, high standard of living and sporting prowessô and 

progressive social policies.
1
 It was the calm before the storm. 

     The amusements columns in the Sydney Morning Herald on 2 April 1914, just prior 

to World War I, revealed a surprising diversity of entertainments on offer, from 

classical concerts, chamber music and vocal recitals to silent movies, numerous plays, 

and vaudeville presented by Benjamin Fuller and Edward Brascombeôs renowned 

touring costume companies The Dandies. Each Dandies company was represented by a 

colour such as red, blue or green. Other indoor activities offered for consideration 

included Wirthôs Circus which promoted fifty new artists from Europe and America, 

the huge Great White City Carnival extravaganza, an international boxing heavyweight 

title at Snowy Bakerôs Stadium, ballroom dancing, ragtime music, and tango, not to 

forget the popular pastime of roller skating, which Dorothy enjoyed. If a person sought 

outdoor activity, the cricket, excursions to beauty spots, horseracing and sailing, a visit 

to the Hawkesbury Show and the forthcoming biplane exhibition at the Royal Easter 

Show were other options.
2
 This indicates a large Sydney audience happy to spend on 

entertainment and with the leisure time and financial resources to devote to it.  

 

Postcard from Dorothy to Reg Rudder. Wallace Family Collection. 

     Dorothy had been at the Garcia School of Music since late 1911 and received 

constant praise for her vocal skills on the concert platform. Hers was a carefree life, if 

the happy snapshots of her are anything to go by. But towards the end of 1913 all was 
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not right with Dorothyôs health. In November she was mentioned in the óDistrict Newsô 

column of the Coffôs Harbour Advocate.  

Miss Dorothy Rudder who has been pursuing her musical studies in Sydney for 

some time returned home by the [steamer] Fitzroy this week. Miss Rudder's 

health has not been satisfactory lately, and she has been advised to take a rest 

for a few months.
3
 

It is unclear what was wrong but óa few monthsô is quite a long time to take a rest. 

Although she did return to the Garcia School after her July 1913 concerts at 

Woolgoolga she took a break from singing from August 1913 until April 1914. 

Although other Garcia students had featured in their own special concerts, Dorothy had 

not. Had there been problems at the school? Did she retire hurt because Rose Fitzgerald 

was chosen as ómost promising studentô and not herself? By taking a break, Dorothy 

was in breach of the contract signed with Madame Christian in April 1913 but no legal 

action was taken by the school. Was the problem much more serious? We are offered a 

clue a few years later. 

     After recovering from her óunsatisfactory healthô, she was again residing in Sydney, 

participating in Garcia concerts and associated Catholic Church events. This included a 

Good Friday Grand Sacred Concert at the Repertory Theatre Sydney on Good Friday 

evening, 10 April 1914. The Sunday Mail wrote:  

It is with interest we note the promising singers who appear from time to time 

at our local concerts. The singing of Misses Alice Naylor, Dorothy Rudder, and 

Winifred Darley é demonstrated the fact that we have some exceptionally fine 

talent in our midst. These three young ladies are students of the Garcia School 

of Music.
4
 

Dorothy next sang in front of ódistinguishedô visitors from Melbourne and Sydney at a 

Garcia School Student Musicale on 21 April, followed by an entertainment on 29 April 

to boost the Catholic Church parochial funds. The star of the evening was Maud Telfer 

who later found success in London, appearing in Oscar Ascheôs hit show Chu Chin 

Chow (a version of Arabian Nights) for four years.  

     The Bathurst National Advocate of 25 November 1914 noted that Dorothy was still 

a student of Madame Christian but the last mention of an actual school connection was 
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on 28 May. She assisted tenor Cymbert Horan, from the studio of Madame Christian, at 

a recital in the St James Hall. Reviews of Horanôs performance were mixed but 

Dorothy was again singing well. óMiss Dorothy Rudd gave a fine rendering of ñThe 

Song of the Soulò (Breil) and Mascagni's ñPreghieraò, with violin obbligato by Mr. F. 

Mowat Carter, for which she was encored.ô
5
 

     While Dorothy and the citizens of NSW went about their daily lives, war was 

brewing on the other side of the world. The European monarchs, who were all closely 

related, were locked into various alliances. The assassination of the heir to the 

Hapsburg Empire ï together with strong undercurrents of nationalism, republicanism, 

militarism as well as vested interests resulted in a volatile mix ï and Europe was at 

war. Britain officially declared war on Germany on 4 August 1914. Australia was in 

the middle of a general election but commitment to the British Empire was bipartisan. 

Labor Party leader Andrew Fisher, who became Prime Minister a month after Australia 

entered the war, promised that óAustralians will stand beside our own to help and 

defend Britain to our last man and our last shillingô.
6
 

     Before long the pride and enthusiasm triggered by the Gallipoli landings gave way 

to a dawning recognition of the grim realities of war. The historical records illustrate 

part of the picture. In 1914 the population of Australia was less than five million. By 

the warôs end in 1918, 331,781 of her citizens had served, resulting in 210,000 

casualties with 61,519 killed. (Some historians have disputed the actual numbers of 

casualties; they may have been even higher.)  

     On Christmas Eve 1914 Dorothy appeared in a Grand Concert at the Theatre Royal 

Sydney; her first time on the concert platform with professional performers. The 

theatregoer could choose from a large entertainment menu during the week. As a result 

a small crowd attended the concert, including Winnie. Although some Sydney locals 

such as óAnti-Germanô had been pushing in the newspapers for a prohibition on the 

performance of German music, the Grand Concert had included a selection of German 

songs. Flautist John Lemmone, Nellie Melbaôs associate artist, business manager and 

great friend, was one of the distinguished artists on the bill. The program also included 

an oratorio and sacred numbers by fine oratorio singer Malcolm McEachern, violin 

solos by Cyril Monk, songs by óoperatic prima donnaô Madame Slapoffski and Italian 

tenor Signor Molinari and items by the Austral String Quartet.
 
 

     Splashes Weekly praised Dorothyôs performance. óMiss Dorothy Rudder sang 

brilliantly, and with right effect, ñVisso dôart, vissi dôamoreò from the opera ñToscaò 
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(Puccini). She made a great impression by her singing of this number, and the audience 

was so persistent that she gave a recall with equal charm.ô
7
 The Sydney Morning 

Herald reviewer agreed. óMiss Dorothy Rudder é combined sympathetic expression 

and refinement of style in one of the most enjoyable performances of the evening, for 

which she was accorded an encore.ô
8
  

     By 13 January 1915 Dorothy and Winnie arrived back from Sydney on the Orara. A 

clip from the Clarence and Richmond Examiner declared Woolgoolgaôs pride in their 

young artiste, ówarmly congratulating both her and her parents who have sacrificed so 

much for her musical educationô. The paper added óMiss Rudder has received two very 

tempting offers to tour the world, but as this course may interfere with the completion 

of her studies, it is doubtful if either will be acceptedô.
9
 No evidence exists as to what 

these offers were.  

     In May the family received some sad news. Dorothyôs maternal grandfather, 

Thomas Armitage Salmon junior had died aged 84. He came to Australia when he was 

two to be united with his convict father. Thomas Salmon, like Dorothyôs paternal 

grandfather Julius Rudder, had farmed the land on the mid-north coast of NSW. 

According to his obituary óAt eighty years of age, he was successful in a ballot for a 

selection in the Burringbar district [near Mullwillumbah NSW], and such was his 

vigorous constitution that he took a strenuous part in clearing the scrub, and with the 

help of his sons, had the farm well improved within a few years.ô
10

 He married twice 

and left a wife, seven sons and four daughters, including Dorothyôs mother Alice. 

     On 14 May Dorothy helped cater for a large gathering at the Seaview Inn ï a Grand 

Ball in support of King Albert and the Belgian army. For the occasion she wore an 

evening dress of pale blue satin with an overdress of cream silk shadow lace. The 

Woolgoolgaôs children celebrated another Empire Day in the same month. A 

procession left the school with the girls wearing national costumes representing the 

allied countries involved in the war, while the boys represented the British Navy. 

Included was a burlesque on Germany. Uncle Sam sat on a rail (symbolically sitting on 

the fence) watching the combat between the adversaries. When the procession arrived 

in the centre of town on its way to the jetty, patriotic songs were sung and the poem 

óGiveô recited, while girls representing Red Cross nurses collected money, which 

included coins thrown down from the hotel balcony. After lunch F.J. gave a speech 

referring to the duty of everyone to help relieve the Belgians and the noble sacrifice 

and stand of our troops at the Dardanelles, which had caused world-wide interest. A 
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raffle included a goat, Leghorn fowls and a cake donated by the aptly named Mrs 

Mould. Dorothy, a keen participant, órendered great assistance to the teaching staff in 

preparing the pupils for the musical items, which included the latest recruiting and 

patriotic songsô.
11

  

     The war created waves of pain throughout the Woolgoolga community, as it did for 

an entire generation of Australians. The impact on the deeply patriotic Rudder family 

was especially devastating.  

     The pressure to enlist was tremendous but the motivation to volunteer varied; some 

answered the call to king and country, or feared there would be no óWhite Australiaô if 

Britain lost the war. Others went to avenge the death of their fellow Australians at 

Gallipoli or signed up for the adventure, the regular army pay of six shillings a day, to 

leave behind debts, or their partners. Duty was also a compelling factor. One trade 

union leader, W. Rosser, cited his British blood and his country, choosing freedom 

over slavery. He saw it as his duty to enlist as óa war against warô.
12

 Local Woolgoolga 

policeman Constable John Nugent órecognised that there was the call of home and the 

call of the Empire. He had obeyed the latter because he preferred to fight the enemy in 

their country to fighting them in his own backyard.ô
13

 Another local, Private McGuire 

agreed, stating that if the enemy was not defeated in Europe, Australia had no chance 

of defeating him if our shores were attacked.  

  

Arthur Wallace with wife Winnie and children Reginald and Gwendoline. Creelman Studios Sydney.  

At Woolgoolga. Back Alice Rudder, Dorothy, Winnie Wallace. Front Gwen and Reg Wallace. Both 

images Wallace Family Collection. 
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     Five men with close ties to Dorothy enlisted after March 1915 ï Winnieôs husband 

Arthur Wallace, friends Jack Eaves and Arthur (Joe) Dayball, brother Reg Rudder and 

another close friend Charlie Younger. Only two out of the five would return. One of 

Dorothyôs photographs, taken around 1916, poignantly illustrates this. At first glance a 

normal family is depicted standing outside their house, the children holding kittens. 

And then a realisation; the menfolk are missing from the picture.    

     Arthur Wallace enlisted early, on 2 March 1915. At the age of thirty-five he was 

much older than many volunteers. I imagine he discussed his decision carefully with 

Winnie, especially as they had two small children, Reggie born in 1911 and Gwen in 

1912. They now lived at 44 Frazer Road Lewisham Sydney with Alice. F.J. shared his 

time between Sydney and Woolgoolga where he acted as the local agent for Langley 

Bros. shipping company. Dorothy stayed with her family when in Sydney; she 

considered it her home base.  

  

Kasr el Nil, Egypt. 1915. Front view of lines of supply wagons of 20th Australian Army Supply Corps 

outside the Kasr il Nil Barracks while they break for dinner and feed their horses on the way to Maadi, 

Cairo. Photograph by Arthur Wallace.   

Williamôs Pier and the Sphinx Gallipoli October 1915. Arthur Wallace wrote óWilliamsonôs [sic] Pier. 

Photo taken casualty corner. X [marks the spot] Turkish sniper hidden in the crevice accounted for a 

large number before he was located and potted. Photograph by Arthur Wallace.  

     After two months training, Arthur embarked for active service abroad on 12 May 

1915. Many physical details were recorded during enlistment. This information was 

useful in identifying soldiers who deserted, were wounded or killed. Regôs regimental 

number was 8990. He was not very tall at 5ô3İò and weighed 122 pounds (55kgs). 

Arthur initially served with the 4th Light Horse Ammunition Column before being 

posted to 20th Company, Australian Army Service Corps, serving in Egypt and the 

Western Front with a possible short stint in Gallipoli. This is unrecorded in the official 
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service record but photographs he took show he was there prior to the secret December 

1915 evacuation.  

     The war gave Arthur a chance to taste exotic places he never would have been able 

to visit on a rural school teacherôs wage. The first months in Egypt afforded Arthur the 

opportunity to try out his not insignificant photography skills. In fact his pictures were 

so popular he managed to sell ninety sets to the other soldiers in camp, flattering 

himself óthat I secured excellent photosô. In France, military censorship would curtail 

the taking of images of all the sights. By this stage I imagine he was reluctant to take 

photographs at the front anyway. 

 

Exquisite letter paper with 3D effect sent by Arthur Wallace to Winnie from Egypt 13 December 1915. 

Wallace Family Collection. 

     Arthurôs work involved transporting supplies, anything from horses or loaves of 

bread to artillery or fodder. He may have been a teacher in civilian life but had strong 

bushman skills. Horses were a vital component of this work. The relationship between 



61 

 

the men and their horses could be very close. Many thousands of war horses would 

suffer terribly given the appalling conditions on the front line and Arthur undoubtedly 

was affected by this.  

 

              Arthur Joseph Dayball 1910. Tesla Studios Sydney. Wallace Family Collection. 

     A particular friend of Winnie and Dorothyôs, Arthur Joseph (Joe) Dayball, was the 

next to enlist. He came from Nelligen on the south coast of NSW and had relatives on 

the mid-north coast. At some stage he resided in Woolgoolga but was working for the 

Sydney Harbour Trust as a bridge carpenter in Sydney prior to enlisting on 1 

September 1915. One of three brothers who signed up, Joe Dayball had auburn hair and 

blue eyes, and was relatively tall at 5ô8ò. He left Australia on 11 December 1915, 

serving with the 1st Field Company Engineers, 3rd Battalion.  

     Before long Dorothy had to face some sad news. She had experienced family 

members such as her grandfather passing away from old age or natural causes but this 

was the first time she was forced to confront a violent death. Joe was listed as missing 

at Pozières on 23 July 1916. He died two days later, on 25 July. A Court of Inquiry at 

Ypres was held in October but his death was not officially confirmed until December. 

Joe was a practising Roman Catholic, with a prayer book and scapular listed among his 

possessions. He had survived three short months on the battlefield. 
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     The Rudders held onto a copy of a document sent to the Dayball family from 

Langer Owen, a lawyer and director of the Red Cross Information Bureau, which 

detailed how he died. His report would have made for depressing reading for Dorothy. 

One day Owen would take a prominent role in her life ï as a judge in the NSW 

Supreme Court no less.  

     Sapper Anderson wrote a report to the Red Cross describing how Joe was wounded 

by shrapnel while establishing an advanced machine-gun post in front of the lines 

between Pozières and Baupame. Sapper W. Allen attended to him but this brave action 

would cost the man his life. Both men died together in a shell hole, face down, with 

Allen partially lying across Joe. Anderson intended taking their identification tags but 

ówas almost blown out of the holeô and óshaken a bitô by another shell. Being gassed, 

he had óonly a fair recollection of running and crawling to our own lines and after that 

no recollection at allô.
14

  

 

Reg and Susie Rudder shortly after their marriage. Photograph by Talma Studios Sydney. Wallace 

Family Collection. 

     Reginald (Reg) Rudder had a selection of oceanfront land at Woolgoolga and was a 

bushman used to hard physical work and handling firearms. In 1910 he was employed 

in a timber mill for ó9 bob a day é very heavy but not long hoursô. He tied the knot on 

8 October 1915, marrying Susan (Susie) Olive Harden at St Peters Church Nana Glen. 

Gold jewellery was again the gift of choice for the wedding party, including an elegant 
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Nellie Stewart gold bangle for the bridesmaid.
15

 The ceremony must have had some 

bitter-sweet moments as Reg was planning to enlist. Following the reception, the bride 

and groom motored to Sydney for their honeymoon. Reg signed up at the Sydney 

Town Hall on 30 October.  

     A moving farewell to Reg and seven other recruits from the Woolgoolga district 

was earlier held at the Sea View Hotel. The evening consisted of songs and patriotic 

speeches, with the volunteers positioned in pride of place on the stage. The president of 

the local recruiting association, teacher Harry Barnes, handed each recruit a wrist 

watch and a balaclava. Barnes said óif disaster could overtake the nation it would not be 

the fault of those who went, but of those who remainedô.
16

  

 

Family photo of Dorothy, Gwen, Reg and Reginald dated 2/4/16 with a note from Winnie on the back 

óNote Doro knitting socks.ô Many men did not want women to work alongside them during the war as 

they believed they were ónot built that wayô (and would provide competition for jobs). Most women 

were still expected to stay at home looking after their families, fundraising and organising packages for 

soldiers at the front, especially the knitting of thousands of socks. Wallace Family Collection. 

     Reg Rudder was private number 5401 in the 14th Reinforcements 17th Battalion, 

5th NSW Brigade, Second Australian Division. He was 5ô5ò, twenty-nine years of age 

with brown eyes and dark brown hair and weighed 10 stone (65 kg) although he looked 

heavier. The records reveal he had two tattoos on his arms, no doubt homemade; his 

initials R.B.R on the left forearm and another on the right upper arm in the shape of a 

heart.  
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     After entering camp Reg had an appendix operation and then hurt his shoulder. 

Nearly ten months after enlisting, on 22 August 1916, he departed Sydney for Europe 

on HMAT Wiltshire. The previous day he participated in a big military inspection and 

march-past of infantry reinforcements before Brigadier General Gustave Ramaciotti, 

which Dorothy attended. Ramaciotti, a wealthy man, had himself been connected to the 

theatre. In 1904 he left the law to become a partner in J.C. Williamson Ltd. He sold his 

shares in 1911 and acquired the Theatre Royal in King Street Sydney for £15,000. 

 

Reg Rudderôs precious mementos collected by Winnie prior to his departure from Sydney. Wallace 

Family Collection. 

     An extraordinary group of mementos gathered by Winnie in the days before Reg 

departed have survived. A small cardboard watch box contains a lock of his dark hair, 

the last fish hook he used, a corner of the last piece of toast he ate, the butt of the last 

cigarette he smoked and a folded section of the white streamer which had connected 

Reg to his loved ones on the docks. Winnieôs husband Arthur had already enlisted and 

was serving in France. Given the daily lists of dead and wounded in the newspapers 

and the losses already being suffered within their community, a deep sense of 

foreboding must have prevailed.  

     In postcards sent from Cape Town, South Africa on the way to war, Reg wrote of 

his purchase of ostrich feathers for his wife Susie and Dorothy, which cost 2/6 each and 

mentioned an uncle, Peter Rudder, who was in town. óThere is an awful lot of shipping 

down here mostly coal, plenty of niggers and gins etc.ô He admired the town of Durban 
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where he was heading off to see a play. óThis is a lovely little city ... I have been out to 

the zoo in a tram and rode back in a rickshaw.ô Illustrating an unquestioning attitude of 

white superiority to the indigenous inhabitants of the colonies, he observed óIt is funny 

to be pulled along behind a shiny niggerô. This was the first time Reg had seen black 

South Africans; a very strange new experience for him, although a doctor who married 

into the family was of West Indian and French heritage. 

 

4th Southern Hospital Rollestone England 19 October 1916. Reginald Rudder second row from bottom,  

second from left next to nurse. Wallace Family Collection. 

     In 1914, almost half of the Australian population lived in communities of 3,000 

people or less. Recruits from these areas were largely unexposed to diseases such as 

measles and mumps, and illness swept through the camps in Australia and Egypt in the 

early years of the war. For adult soldiers, complications from these illnesses sometimes 

posed serious health problems, and a number of deaths resulted. In October 1916 Reg 

was admitted with mumps to the 4th Southern General Hospital at Rollestone, a small 

town in Wiltshire near Stonehenge, and spent sixteen days in hospital. The Australian 

Government introduced inoculations in subsequent years, and Reg later mentioned his 

arm was óvery stiff and soreô after being vaccinated.
17

   

     Reg wrote a candid letter to Winnie from Rollestone on 12 November. óOur boys 

have had a terrible cutting up lately [on the Somme] nearly all the 5th Brigade is wiped 

out.ô Although he had four blankets and used his raincoat for warmth, he was still very 

cold at night. He was awaiting the move to France, but hoped his turn would come after 

the winter. Joe Dayball was reported missing in action (as we know, he was already 

dead) while Jack Barnes, the son of teacher Harry Barnes, had been slightly wounded. 



66 

 

Reg noted men at Perham Downs with one eye and one arm who were kept on doing 

fatigue work óso as you can see you have to be absolutely useless before you are sent 

back, not like when they were in Egypt there they were sent back for next to nothingô. 

He discussed venereal disease. óThere are thousands of the Australians in the hospitals 

with some complaint. This is the place for you to get it, there are thousands of girls in 

Eng[land] who are like this. I would rather be shot than chance it.ô  

    Due to his illness, Reg missed out on some leave, and said the soldiers usually got 

leave one week out of four with luck. The ó40 square miles of campô at Salisbury 

Plains were ómiles away from any townshipô. It took 2İ hours to get to London, which 

included a twenty-mile trip by car to Salisbury costing 5/-. He described the many 

airplanes flying above him. óYou can see as many as forty up every day, it is nice to see 

them soaring about.ô The food was very good but rationed. He felt he could always eat 

more.  

     In his next letter to Winnie, written on 9 January 1917, Reg expressed his affection 

for her daughter Gwen, wanting óto give the little darling a big hugô. Winnie had been 

seriously ill and it may have been stress related. Arthur had now been serving for 

nearly two years, Reg for nearly six months, and any day there could be a dreaded 

knock on the door from the local minister. Alice looked after Winnieôs small son for 

quite some time but her health was reported to be much better after a rest.  

     Reg had managed to get leave and had visited Susieôs aunt in Dublin for four days. 

The days were bitterly cold and many people were having accidents on the icy streets. 

He found some of the local women amusing. óThe old Irish women are tricks they have 

hair growing on their teeth and I [am] hanged if you can understand them.ô After five 

days enjoying the sights in London, with very little money in his pocket, Reg returned 

to camp. An undated postcard sent from Plymouth included the fatalistic note ótake 

care of these photos [they] will be something to remember me byô. 

     What was Dorothy doing while Reg was serving overseas in 1916? F.J. was no 

doubt covering her living expenses as only one (amateur) performance can be found for 

her ï a Grand Fete in Sydney entitled A Street in Cairo in aid of the Passionist Fathersô 

Monastery, inspired by the soldiers fighting in the Middle East. The event ran for an 

incredible ten days in April with the Town Hall turned into an Arabian-Nights style 

Egyptian city. Half-hour concert performances were part of the spectacular, as was the 

raffle of a car worth £325.
18

 



67 

 

Chapter Five 

The First World War  ï Soldiering on through heartache 

          

Portrait of Alice Rudder by Ideal Portait Co. and Dorothy Rudderôs portrait by Zara Panel. 

These two contrasting photographs accompanied Reg Rudder to the front. Dated 20/8/16. Both images 

Wallace Family Collection. 

1917 was the annus horribilis for the Rudder family and it began in January with a 

serious motor-car accident involving Clarrie. He was driving another personôs touring 

car with four passengers on the Glen Innes road, twenty-seven miles from Grafton. 

They saw a horseman, Mr A.G. Winkler, ahead. Clarrie moved to the side of the road 

to let the horseman pass but the horse shied, throwing Winkler into the middle of the 

road. Clarrie swerved; the car hit a post and overturned into a creek. Everyone 

managed to extricate themselves except for H.G. Lequesne, a grazier, who died at the 

scene. An inquiry into the accident later returned a verdict of accidental death. Winkler 

later died in hospital.
19

  

     Reg finally proceeded to France on SS Invicta on 15 February 1917 and was 

marched in to the huge Étaples Army Base Camp in Picardy. On 25 March he rejoined 

the 17th Battalion. He was thirty-one years old.    

     Dorothy, now 23, was travelling often in 1917. On 22 January the Tweed Daily 

noted óMiss Dot Rudderô had visited Murwillumbah the previous week to see her 

relatives on the Salmon side, and was then journeying on to Brisbane.
20

 On 15 
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February she was óa decided acquisitionô at a fundraiser for the Yeronga Red Cross, 

which was the beneficiary of a concert given by the Harry Collins Minstrel Company 

consisting of amateur artistes who appeared at patriotic and charitable events. 

Dorothyôs óartistic renderingô of óHereôs to Loveô won her an ovation. This concert was 

followed by another at White City for the benefit of the soldiers in camp. 

     Dorothy sailed back to Sydney on TSS Canberra on 29 March. No doubt her skills 

as a singer and pianist were welcomed on board. The entertainment consisted of a 

Grand Concert óheld at seaô in aid of the Overseas Soldiers Tobacco Fund. On the 

journey she sang selected songs and during the second act acted as accompanist. Even 

Captain R.F. Douton took the opportunity to offer up a tune.  

      A small village in northern France called Bullecourt is of great significance in 

Australian military history and for Dorothy personally. Reg Rudderôs battalion fought 

there at both at the first and second battles in April and May 1917. These awful battles 

were a prime example of what is meant by the phrase ówar of attritionô. At First 

Bullecourt the 4th and 12th Brigades suffered over 3,300 deaths and injuries and 1,170 

soldiers were taken prisoner. The 4th Brigadeôs casualties were especially devastating ï 

2,339 out of 3,000 men engaged; the heaviest ever suffered in any one action by an 

Australian brigade. The 2nd Division relieved the 4th Division on 13 April with Regôs 

17th Battalion suffering 181 casualties during the course of this action.  

     F.J. received a letter dated 23 April which would be of special significance. Reg was 

a changed man now, having experienced the heat of battle and killing at least one 

German soldier. He was also now a father. 

My Dear Dad 

Just a few lines to let you know I am well and are at present just behind the 

lines have had one go at the Hunks and knocked them rotten, donôt think the 

war can last much longer we are giving them hell with our artillery and big 

guns é We are all busy scraping the French mud off our clothes é I saw 

Arthur [Wallace] a couple of days ago, he is only a few miles from me. Had a 

cable from Susie yes [yesterday] saying she had a son and both doing well. I 

can tell you I am relieved somewhat é I have a few souviners I got off a Hunk 

I dressed he was badly wounded I donôt think he got over it. Does not matter 

much é Well Dad no news to write about so will wish you good bye this time 
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hoping this will find you in health and trust in God that he will bring me safely 

home.  

from your ever loving effect.[ionate] son 

Though Reg was feeling opimistic about the warôs progress, the lessons of the first 

battle had not been learned by his leaders. Another ill-judged attempt was made to 

break the Hindenburg Line at Bullecourt, this time with the participation of the 5th and 

6th Brigades. The offensive commenced on 3 May on a sixteen-mile front. Reginald 

Burdett Rudder died on this day, courageously facing intense machine-gun fire, tangles 

of barbed wire and untold horrors.  

     Despite heavy losses, the Australians captured a section of the Hindenburg Line. 

The holding of it against numerous counter-attacks was a great achievement and did 

not go unnoticed in the British and French Press at the time. Not surprisingly, 

Australian troops developed a deep distrust regarding the abilities of their commanders. 

Bullecourt, a town of little strategic importance, was taken on 17 May. The Allied line 

had advanced just one kilometre and the town was in ruins.  

     On 19 May F.J. received a private telegram informing him of Regôs death. He sent a 

message to Base Records in Melbourne requesting confirmation. An urgent return 

telegram dated 20 May stated óNo report casualty Private Rudder. Forward private 

cable will investigate if warranted.ô The document has óCancell [sic]. Later information 

required.ô written across it in pencil. The news of his death was confirmed to Susie a 

few days later via a dreaded knock on her door by the local minister.  

     A death notice in the Sydney Morning Herald 26 May read: 

He answered to his country's call 

For sons to guard her shores   

In honourôs cause he gave his all,  

And man can do no more.  

Deeply mourned. lnserted by his loving brother, Clarrie, and sisters Winnie and 

Dorothy.
21 

Graftonôs Daily News described Reg as a splendid physical specimen, in the prime of 

manhood with an unassuming manner and straightforward in character. óFate claimed 

one more brave life, unselfishly given for King and country and for all those traditions 

so dear to the British nation.ô
22
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     Susie was sent the standard commemorative materials ï British War Medal, Victory 

Medal, Memorial Plaque and Scroll and a booklet óWhere the Australians Restô. The 

only personal mementos she received were Regôs identity discs. She wrote to Victoria 

Barracks Melbourne ôI wish to know if there has been anything else of his, and if so 

please let me know if postage is needed. I would be only too pleased to pay for 

same.ô
23

 A war widowôs pension of £2/3/- per fortnight was granted, with an extra 20/- 

for her son Ralph Reginald who was born on 28 March, just five weeks before Reg was 

killed. 

     Reg has no actual grave and is commemorated on the Villers-Bretonneux Memorial 

Wall to the Missing, France. This memorial was of special significance to Dorothy, 

who attended the official unveiling in 1938. 

     Dorothyôs suitcase contains a mystery in relation to Regôs effects ï a photograph of 

Dorothy highlighting her abundant hair and her décolleté in an off the shoulder evening 

dress together with a much more sedate image of mother Alice in high collared dress; 

both have their name and address written on the back plus óPrivate R.B. Rudder 5401 

14
th
 of 17 batt 5

th
 Brigade on active service abroad. In case this photo is lost kindly 

address to the above.ô They may well have been found on Reg when he died and 

returned to the family, but are not indicated in the war records. Both photos have water 

stains but other materials in the suitcase which are not related to the war also have 

some water damage.  

 

Dorothy and Charlie Younger. Wallace Family Collection. 
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Postcard inscribed on back óYours lovingly Younger Bros Les Charlie & Ernieô. Photograph by Asti 

Studios Sydney. Wallace Family Collection. 

     A very close friend of Dorothyôs who liked to perform with her at local concerts 

was handsome grocer Charlie Younger who was said to be in love with her. Charlie, 

service number 6386, and his brothers Leslie 6385 and Ernest 6387 all enlisted on the 

same day, 28 April 1916, and all served in the 3rd Battalion. At their farewell they 

were presented with 154 packets of cigarettes. 

 

Postcard sent by Charlie Younger to Dorothy 1916. The pack folds out to reveal a set of images. Wallace 

Family Collection. 


